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SPONSOR’S STATEMENT 

Rex International Holding Limited (the  “Company”) was listed on 

Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the 

“SGX-ST”) on 31 July 2013. The initial public offering of the Company 

was sponsored by PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. (the 

“Sponsor”). 

This Annual Report has been prepared by the Company and its 

contents have been reviewed by the Sponsor for compliance with the 

relevant rules of the SGX-ST. The Sponsor has not independently 

verified the contents of this Annual Report.

This Annual Report has not been examined or approved by the SGX-ST 

and the SGX-ST  assumes no responsibility for the contents of this 

Annual Report including the correctness of any of the statements or 

opinions made or reports contained in this Annual  Report. 

The contact person for the Sponsor is Mr Mark Liew, Managing 

 Director, Corporate  Finance, at 20 Cecil Street, #21-02 Equity Plaza, 

Singapore 049705, telephone +65 6229 8088.
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2 Group Structure Rex International Holding Limited

GROUP
STRUCTURE¹

REX INTERNATIONAL HOLDING

100% 

REX US
67% 

REXONIC
65% 

LIME
PETROLEUM

64% 

CARIBBEAN
REX ²

3 OFFSHORE
CONCESSIONS

41% 

HIREX

22.3% 

FRAM
 EXPLORATION

OWNER OF US
LICENCES

59% 

DAHAN
 PETROLEUM

ASSET: RAK NORTH
OFFSHORE  

(100%)

64% 

MASIRAH OIL
ASSET: BLOCK 50
OMAN OFFSHORE 

(100%)

41%         35% 

HIBISCUS
(SHAREHOLDER)

100% 

ZUBARA
PETROLEUM
ASSET: SHARJAH

OFFSHORE 
(100%)

100% 

BAQAL
PETROLEUM

ASSET: RAK
ONSHORE  
(100%)

100% 

LIME  
PETROLEUM

NORWAY
14 OFFSHORE
CONCESSIONS

COLORADO/
NORTH DAKOTA

2 ONSHORE
LEASE AREAS

4

3

¹  Simplified group structure

²   Inniss-Trinity 100%, South Erin Block 100% (assuming the acquisition of the remaining 25% stake in Jasmin Oil and Gas Limited is completed),  

Cory Moruga Block ‘E’ 51% (assuming certain well obligations are met)
3  Upon completion of an investor's subscription of 6,288,238 new shares in Fram Exploration ASA
4   PL503 Valberget 12.5%, PL503B Valberget 12.5%, PL616 Skagastol 5%, PL498 Skagen 25%, PL707 Seiland West 10%, PL708 Seiland East 10%, PL509S 20%, PL509BS 

20%, PL498B 25%, PL503C 12.5%, PL762 20%, PL769 20%, PL770 20%, PL509CS 20% (Assuming transfer of 20% stakes in PL 509S, PL 509BS and PL 509CS and 

additional 20% stake in PL 498 is completed)



Annual Report 2013 3Corporate Profile

CORPORATE
PROFILE

Listed on 31 July 2013, Rex International 

Holding Limited ("Rex International 

Holding") is one of the largest compa-

nies on Singapore Exchange Securities 

 Trading Limited’s ("SGX-ST") Catalist 

Board. The oil exploration and produc-

tion company has access to a set of 

proprietary and innovative exploration 

technologies, Rex Technologies, origi-

nating from the Company’s Swedish 

founders. These  include the 

game-changing Rex Virtual Drilling tech-

nology, the world’s first  direct 

hydrocarbon detector using  seismic 

data, which literally enables  

the Group to ‘see oil in the ground’ by 

pinpointing the location of oil reservoirs 

in the sub-surface. Through the explora-

tion accuracy of Rex Technologies which 

are applicable to both onshore and off-

shore oil exploration, the oil discovery 

success rate is substantially higher than 

traditional methods. The Company also 

owns the unique Rexonics ultrasound 

technology from Switzerland that is 

used for well-bore cleaning which 

 allows for significantly increased oil 

production in wells that have issues 

with clogging and deposits. Both Rex 

 International Holding and the joint 

 venture for Rexonics stand to reap from 

cross-selling business opportunities.

Rex International Holding holds rights  

to explore oil and gas in the Middle East, 

Norway, the US and Trinidad & Tobago. 

These offshore and onshore concessions 

cover an aggregate area of over 25,000 

square kilometres in regions known for 

previous oil and gas discoveries. Located 

in politically stable countries with well- 

developed oil and gas infrastructures, 

Rex International Holding has a portfolio 

of assets that is geographically diversi-

fied and consists of both onshore and 

offshore concessions.

VISION
Rex International Holding’s vision is to be a leading independent 

E&P company that has an international portfolio of concessions 

which have been selected using our game-changing, eco-friendly 

and proprietary suite of Rex Technologies.

VALUES

INNOVATION
Game-changing, environmentally- 

friendly technologies that will transform 

oil exploration and  production practices.

INTEGRITY
Trustworthy in both words and  actions, 

in all business dealings.

ENTREPRENEURSHIP
Our forward-looking, agile and entrepre-

neurial team aims to create value for all 

stakeholders.

The Company has a geographically diversified portfolio of oil 
concessions, selected using its game-changing, eco-friendly 
and proprietary suite of Rex Technologies.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

Rex International Holding’s debut on 

Catalist on 31 July 2013 was significant 

as it was one of a handful of upstream 

exploration and production (“E&P”) 

companies to be listed on the Singapore 

bourse. The Company has since worked 

diligently to execute the Company’s 

vision to be a leading independent E&P 

company that has an international 

portfolio of concessions which have 

been selected using our game-

changing, eco-friendly and proprietary 

suite of Rex technologies.

With our core competence being our 

suite of technologies that allows us to 

find oil more effectively and efficiently 

than conventional E&P companies, our 

business strategy is to focus on the 

 relatively shorter-term and less capital- 

intensive exploration and appraisal 

phases of the E&P process, prove up 

value in exploration wells, sell oil-in- 

the-ground and recycle the capital into 

stakes in more concessions. 

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had 

exposure to 17 licences in four regions: 

Norway, the United States (“US”), Trinidad 

& Tobago and the Middle East. For the 

 financial year ended 31 December 2013 

(“FY2013”), the Group recorded a total 

comprehensive loss of US$8.55 million 

which was according to plan, compared 

to a net loss of US$1.18 million in 

FY2012. Expenses  incurred for the 

initial public offering (“IPO”) amounting 

to US$2.52 million, which could not be 

capitalised, were a major contributor to 

the net loss.

GROWING OUR PORTFOLIO
During FY2013, we expanded our 

geographical footprint to Trinidad & 

Tobago, and acquired three new onshore 

licences, namely, the South Erin Block, 

Inniss-Trinity and Cory Moruga, through 

our 64.17 per cent-owned jointly 

controlled entity Caribbean Rex Ltd 

("Caribbean Rex"). Caribbean Rex now 

holds a 75 per cent working  interest (to 

be increased to 100 per cent upon the 

completion of the acquisition of the 

remaining 25 per cent stake in the 

licence holding entity, Jasmin Oil and Gas 

Ltd), in the oil-producing South Erin Block, 

a 100 per cent interest in the Incremental 

Production Service Contract in Inniss-

Trinity and a 20 per cent interest in Cory 

Moruga, which will increase to 51 per 

cent upon certain conditions for a drilling 

programme being met.

Our jointly-controlled entity Lime 

 Petroleum Norway AS acquired 10 per 

cent stakes in two licences in the 

 Barents Sea, PL707 and PL708, and   

20 per cent stakes in PL509S and 

PL509BS located in the North Sea, from 

North Energy ASA (“North  Energy”) 

during FY2013.

We have within the five-month mark  

of our listing in end-July 2013 to end- 

December 2013, grown our portfolio to 

17 licences, from the initial 10 licences, 

and extended our geographical footprint 

from three to four regions.  

STREAMLINING OUR INVESTMENTS
We have also restructured our 

investment holdings in the US. Our 

wholly-owned subsidiary Rex US Ltd 

exchanged its 20 per cent direct 

interest in Fram Exploration ASA’s 

(“FRAM”) two US  concessions in North 

Dakota and Colorado, together with a 

cash payment of US$4.51 million, for an 

enlarged stake in FRAM. Immediately 

after the restructuring, the Company held 

27.87 per cent of the issued share 

capital of FRAM. 

As part of this restructuring, Rex 

International Holding had on 7 February 

2014, completed the divestment of its 

49 per cent interest in Loyz Rex Drilling 

Services LLC to Loyz USA Holdings LLC, 

an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of 

Loyz Energy Ltd. (“Loyz”), for a consider-

ation of US$4.5 million, by way of US$1 

million in cash and US$3.5 million in 

newly issued  ordinary shares in the 

capital of Loyz (the “Divestment”). 

Pursuant to completion of the Divest-

ment, the Company now holds approxi-

mately 3.0 per cent of the enlarged is-

sued and paid-up share capital of Loyz.

STRENGTHENING OUR SUITE  
OF TECHNOLOGIES
Rex Virtual Drilling achieved 100 per 

cent accuracy in 18 blind and live tests 

conducted in Norway, New Zealand, 

 India, Ras al Khaimah and the US, as 

documented in our IPO document.  

The efficacy of this direct hydrocarbon 

detector has been further validated in 

mid-2013 by North Energy, who had 

found Rex Virtual Drilling’s predictions 

to be 85 per cent accurate at 41 wells 

that they monitored, on which the 

 technology was applied prior to being 

drilled. The technology has also been 

applied to all new concessions added to 

our portfolio, where exploration drilling 

will soon be carried out. 

LETTER TO
SHAREHOLDERS
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The Group also entered into a joint 

 venture with Switzerland-based Ogsonic 

AG to provide the world’s first 

environmentally-friendly, high power 

ultrasonic technology for commercial oil 

well  stimulation through the jointly 

controlled entity, Rexonic AG (“Rexonic”). 

Technologically compatible to Rex 

Virtual Drilling since both are centred on 

acoustics, Rexonic’s recurring income 

from the oil production phase will be a 

source of complementary revenue 

stream for Rex International Holding, 

without the need for heavy capital 

 expenditure. Synergies between the 

Rexonics technology and Rex Virtual 

Drilling can be further progressed. For 

example, Rex Virtual Drilling can be used 

to help prioritise which production well 

to stimulate. Rexonic AG and Rex 

 International Holding can also tap on 

each other’s business network to  further 

grow their respective portfolios.

EXECUTING AN ACTIVE  
DRILLING PROGRAMME
To fund the Rexonic joint venture and to 

build a war chest for future business 

opportunities, the Company placed out 

70 million shares and raised an 

additional S$50.5 million in November 

2013. Together with the IPO proceeds, 

the Group is sufficiently funded for its 

 drilling programme up to early 2015.

The suspension of drilling at the first 

well in Oman due to safety reasons and 

before reaching the target depth was 

unfortunate, but served as a timely 

 reminder of operational risks inherent  

in any drilling campaign. The lessons 

learnt will be used to deepen our 

geological understanding of the Block 

“  The Company has…worked  
diligently to execute the 
Company’s vision to be a leading 
independent E&P company that 
has an international portfortlio 
of concessions which have 
been selected using our 
game-changing, eco-friendly 
and proprietary suite of Rex 
technologies. 
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50 Oman concession, one of the Group’s 

most valuable assets in our portfolio. 

Our experience with the first well in 

Oman has also strengthened our resolve 

to ensure diversity as we grow our 

portfolio so that these risks are 

mitigated. We will also continue to work 

with  established and experienced 

operators in our existing and 

new concessions. 

We spudded our second well in Oman on 

30 December 2013 and announced oil 

discovery on 4 February 2014, which was 

confirmed by positive flow test  results 

on 6 March 2014. Onshore exploration 

drilling and a work-over programme are 

slated to be carried out in Trinidad & 

 Tobago from the second quarter of 2014 

to the end of the year, while offshore 

drilling programmes are expected to 

commence in the United Arab Emirates 

and Norway in the fourth quarter of 2014.

LOOKING AHEAD
Subject to the availability of rigs, partners’ 

agreement, relevant authorities’ approval 

and other factors, we plan to participate 

in the drilling of four to six offshore wells 

and up to 10 onshore wells in 2014. We 

are extremely pleased with our oil 

 discovery at the second well in Oman as 

the implications are promising for the 

 valuation of the 17,000-square kilometre 

concession, given that this is the first 

 offshore discovery east of Oman. The 

 successful testing will allow us to deepen 

our knowledge and understanding of the 

geology in the east of Oman and assist in 

our decisions on our further exploration, 

appraisal and development plans for this 

block. Our intention is to conduct 

extended well testing with the aim of 

reaching early production.

We secured another five new offshore 

 licences in Norway in the latest round of 

Awards in Predefined Areas on 21 January 

2014 and acquired a 20 per cent stake in 

our 14th licence in Norway on 20 February 

2014. Now that we have surpassed our 

goal of achieving 20  concessions from 

our initial 10 within 12 months of listing 

with our current 23 concessions, we 

intend to grow our portfolio to up to 30 

licences and extend our geographical 

footprint to new regions such as the 

Asia-Pacific by the end of 2014. 

Rex International Holding will continue 

to pursue new business opportunities 

in 2014. We announced our 

subscription to North Energy’s NOK 285 

million private placement for NOK 24 

million (about US$3.9 million) worth of 

North Energy shares on 14 February 

2014. Our joint venture companies, 

Rexonic and HiRex Petroleum Sdn Bhd 

(“HIREX”), are expected to announce new 

contracts and ventures in the coming 

months, with Rexonic starting in South 

and  Central America and HIREX focusing  

on opportunities in Southeast Asia, 

 Australia and New Zealand. 

On the technological front, we are further 

developing a technology to include fault 

detection to enhance our capabilities in 

finding oil. Continual efforts are also 

 underway to refine Rex Virtual Drilling, 

to shorten the time needed to process 

and analyse high-quality seismic data. 

The Group expects to scan more than 

200 opportunities in 2014. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
On behalf of the Board and Rex 

International Holding, we would like to 

express our appreciation to our 

Directors for their guidance and 

contributions, and to our Management 

and staff for their  dedication and hard 

work over these past months since our 

IPO. We would also like to thank our 

shareholders and business partners 

for keeping their faith and their 

continual support.  

This will be another exciting year for us, 

and we hope you will continue to be on 

board, as we strive to unlock value for 

shareholders by growing our portfolio of 

concessions both numerically and 

geographically, strengthening our suite 

of technologies and delivering successful 

drilling campaigns.

Måns Lidgren

Chief Executive Officer

Dan Broström

Executive Chairman

10 March 2014

“ We are extremely pleased 
with our oil discovery at the 
second well in Oman as the 
implications are promising 
for the valuation of the 
17,000-square kilometre 
concession… 
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
Listed in Singapore on 31 July 2013, Rex International Holding’s 
market capitalisation stands at around S$700 million as at 
10 March 2014, and is the largest company on the Catalist board.

US$'000 2013 2012

Revenue – –

Loss before taxation (8,508) (1,182)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (8,548) (1,182)

Loss per share (US cents)1 (1.20) –

SHARE PRICE

1 Comparison of the loss per share for the corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year is not meaningful as no shares existed for the Group in 2012.

1 NTA is defined as total tangible assets less total liabilities. 
2  NM: Not meaningful; the NTA per share for the Group as at 31 December 2012 is not meaningful as no shares existed for the Group in 2012.

IPO price: S$0.50

Source:  ShareInvestor

GROUP

US$'000 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

Non-current assets  82,498  7,355 

Current assets  94,860 –

Total assets  177,358  7,355 

Current liabilities  529  2,227 

Non-current liabilities – –

Total liabilities  529  2,227 

Net assets  176,829  5,128 

Total equity  176,829  5,128 

NTA1 per share (US cents)  16.15 NM2

Aug
2013

S$

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan
2014
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

DAN BROSTRÖM
Chairman and Executive Director

Mr Dan Broström has been with the Group since 2011 and 

was appointed as an Executive Director on 11 January 

2013. He is currently the Executive Chairman of the Board.  

Prior to joining the Company, Mr Broström was a senior 

partner at MVI Holdings Ltd between 1993 and 2005, where 

as a consultant, he has assisted Swedish companies in 

setting up businesses in Singapore through fund-raising 

activities and sourcing for suitable business partners. 

From 1990 to 1993, Mr Broström was the Chief Executive 

 Officer at Hufvudstaden UK Ltd, a real estate company. 

 Before Hufvudstaden UK Ltd, Mr Broström worked in the 

shipping industry, where he was based in London and held 

the position of Chief Executive Officer of Brostrom UK Ltd  

for the  period from 1980 to 1987.  

Mr Broström has a degree in Economics from Stanford 

 University in the United States of America, and a Bachelor 

of Arts in Economics from Gothenburg University in 

 Sweden.

DR KARL HELGE TORE LIDGREN
Non-Independent and Non-Executive Director 

Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren was appointed a Non-Indepen-

dent and Non-Executive Director on 1 May 2013. He is a 

member of the Nominating Committee.

Dr Lidgren founded Rex Partners with his brother, Mr Hans 

Lidgren, and Mr Svein Kjellesvik. Dr Lidgren and Mr Hans 

Lidgren have, since the 1980s, utilised satellite altimeter 

data in oil exploration activities which enabled major oil 

and gas findings. Dr Lidgren represents the interests of 

Rex Partners on the Company’s Board of Directors.

Dr Lidgren graduated from Lund University in Sweden in 

1970 with a degree in Economics. Upon graduation, he 

taught in Lund University until 1972 before taking on the 

role of an investigator for the Swedish Government from 

1972 to 1980. He concurrently obtained a Doctor of 

 Philosophy from Lund University in 1976 in Economics.  

Dr Lidgren taught in Lund University as a Professor from 

1980 until his retirement in 2000. 
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ABDERAHMANE FODIL
Independent and Non-Executive Director

Mr Abderahmane Fodil was appointed as an Independent 

and Non-Executive Director on 26 June 2013, and is a 

nominee of White Global Investment Holdings Ltd, one of 

the Company’s Pre-IPO Investors. He is a member of the 

Audit and Remuneration Committees.

Mr Fodil is the Chief Investment Officer of Global Invest-

ment Holding Co Ltd, where he manages investment 

 activities, including private equity investments and joint 

ventures, for middle-eastern investors. Prior to this,  

Mr Fodil worked for several entities in Abu Dhabi, mostly 

the Emirates Investment Authority and the Abu Dhabi 

 Investment Council. These entities are multi-billion 

 sovereign wealth funds, and his responsibilities covered 

private  equity investments and portfolio management. 

Prior to that, Mr Fodil was an investment professional 

with the  International Finance Corporation (IFC), the 

 private sector arm of the World Bank Group where he 

 executed transactions across emerging markets. Before 

that, Mr Fodil worked as a management consultant for AT 

Kearney in  Europe after starting his career with Societe 

Generale, where he worked as an analyst in commodity 

 financing out of Mexico City.

Mr Fodil earned a Master of Science from Ecole Centrale 

Paris and received a Master of Business Administration 

from INSEAD.

MUHAMMAD SAMEER YOUSUF KHAN
Independent and Non-Executive Director

Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan was appointed as 

 Independent and Non-Executive Director on 26 June 2013. 

He is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of 

the Nominating and Remuneration Committees.

 

Mr Khan has more than 40 years of experience in the 

fields of accounting, business and financial advisory. He 

began his career in 1972 at Ernst & Young’s London office. 

Subsequently in 1983, he joined Drydocks World Group, a 

large maritime group based in the Middle East.

 

Mr Khan held various positions in Drydocks World Group 

and was Group CFO and Executive Director from 2007 to 

2011. He was responsible for Drydocks World’s  acquisition 

of two SGX listed companies, namely, Pan United Marine 

and Labroy Marine. After leaving Drydocks, Mr Khan has 

been providing consultancy and advisory services in 

 Singapore.

 

Mr Khan is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountant 

(England and Wales), and member of the Institute of 

 Management Consultants (UK) and the Singapore Institute 

of Directors.
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SIN BOON ANN
Lead Independent and Non-Executive Director

Mr Sin Boon Ann was appointed as Independent and  

Non-Executive Director on 26 June 2013. He is Chairman 

of the Nominating and Remuneration Committees and a 

member of the Audit Committee. He was appointed as the 

Lead Independent Director on 24 February 2014.

He received his Bachelor of Arts and Bachelor of Laws from 

the National University of Singapore in 1982 and 1986 

 respectively, and a Master of Laws from the University of 

London in 1988. Mr Sin was admitted to the Singapore Bar 

in 1987 and was a member of the teaching staff of the law 

faculty, National University of Singapore from 1987 to 1992. 

Mr Sin joined Drew & Napier LLC in 1992 and has been 

there ever since. Mr Sin is currently the deputy managing 

director of their corporate and finance department. Mr Sin 

was a Member of Parliament, Tampines GRC from 1997  

to 2011. Mr Sin was conferred the May Day Award  

– “Friend of Labour” and the May Day Award – “Meritorious 

Service” by the National Trade Union Congress in 2003 and 

2013 respectively, for his contributions and commitment 

to the labour movement in Singapore as a union adviser.

Three of five, or 60 per cent of 
our directors are independent. 
The diverse mix of background 
and experiences of our directors 
provide for effective direction 
for the Group to be multinational 
with a strong competitive 
business edge. 
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MÅNS LIDGREN 
Chief Executive Officer 

Mr Måns Lidgren is the Chief Executive Officer and is 

 responsible for overseeing the strategic positioning and 

business expansion of the Group including making major 

business and finance decisions.

 

Prior to joining the Company in January 2013, Mr Lidgren 

was interim Chief Executive Officer and director of Lime 

Petroleum Plc from August 2011 to December 2012 and 

Chief Financial Officer of his family’s business from 

August 2009 to August 2011. He has seven years of 

experience in financial structuring, mergers & 

acquisitions, investments and business development. 

From January 2008 to August 2009, Mr Lidgren was Vice 

President of business development under the private 

banking division of Credit Suisse, where he managed his 

own client portfolio, acted as a broker for sourcing of new 

business and pre-screened business proposals. From 

2002 to 2007, he joined his  family business in private 

investments first as a Business Analyst in 2002, and 

subsequently as a Merger & Acquisitions Manager in 2003 

and 2004. From 2005 to 2007, he  assumed the position of 

Senior Investment Manager in his family’s business, and 

carried out portfolio management, liaison with partner 

banks and private equity transactions. Upon his 

graduation, Mr Lidgren also provided consultancy services 

to Global Responsibility, an organisation that seeks to 

promote responsible citizenship worldwide, where he 

helped companies communicate their efforts  

in environment, health and safety issues.

 

Mr Lidgren graduated from Lund University in Sweden 

with a Bachelor of Science and a Master of Science, both 

in Business Administration and Economics in 1999 and 

2000 respectively.

KRISTOFER SKANTZE 
Chief Operating Officer 

Mr Kristofer Skantze is the Chief Operating Officer and is 

responsible for the Group’s overall operations, including 

the integration of new business development plans into 

the Group’s operations. 

Prior to joining the Company, he was the Head of Sales 

and Marketing at textile chemical company HeiQ Materials 

AG from 2007 to 2012, where he forged partner alliances 

with well-known textile brands. From 2000 to 2007, 

Mr Skantze worked for Anoto Group AB, a Swedish high-

tech company. He held various positions within the 

company’s headquarters in Lund, Sweden from 2000 to 

2005, and was Business Development Manager of Anoto 

Inc. in Boston from 2005 to August 2007, where he 

managed the partner network and was responsible for all 

new North American customers. During his stint in Anoto 

Group AB in Sweden, Mr Skantze also invented and filed 

for several patents, of which at least nine were granted. 

Mr Skantze holds a Master’s degree in Engineering Physics 

from the Faculty of Engineering of University of Lund 

in Sweden.

ÅKE KNUTSSON 
Chief Financial Officer 

Mr Åke Knutsson is the Chief Financial Officer and 

oversees the Group’s finance, treasury, administration 

and  internal audit functions. He joined the Group in 2011 

as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company’s jointly 

controlled entity, Lime Petroleum Plc, and was 

SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
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subsequently appointed the Group’s Chief Financial 

Officer in 2013. 

From 2009 to 2011, Mr Knutsson was the Chief Financial 

Officer of the Prestando Group, which supplies pressed 

high-grade steel parts to the European and US automotive 

industry. Between 2006 and 2009, he was Managing 

Director of A Clean Partner International AB, a company 

which develops and sells industrial cleaning substances. 

From 2000 to 2006, Mr Knutsson was the Vice-Managing 

Director and Chief Operating Officer of Biomet Cementing 

Technologies AB, a company part of the international 

Bioment Group which develops and markets cemented 

hip, knee and shoulder implants. From 1980 to 1999, he 

held various finance and accounting positions in 

Scandimed Group, Lidaris Group, AteljéLyktan AB, the 

Ministry of Forestry of Sweden, Kone Cranes AB and ASG AB. 

Mr Knutsson holds a degree in Business Administration 

with International Orientation from the University of 

Lund, Sweden.

LINA BERNTSEN 
Chief Technology Officer 

Mrs Lina Berntsen is the Chief Technology Officer and  

co-ordinates the use of Rex Technologies for the Group. 

Mrs Berntsen re-joined the Group in 2012 as the Rex  Virtual 

Drilling Specialist to Lime Petroleum Norway AS. Prior to 

this from 2011 to 2012, she provided consultancy 

 services to the Group as a Technology Specialist at Equus 

Consulting AB, a business providing advanced mathemat-

ical analysis, which she also partly owns. From 2010 to 

2011, Mrs  Berntsen was the Rex Virtual Drilling Specialist 

for Rex Oil & Gas Ltd. and oversaw the operations and co-

ordinated analyses in relation to the use of Rex Virtual 

Drilling. 

Prior to this, Mrs Berntsen was Development Engineer in 

Gambro Lundia AB, a global medical technology company, 

where she was responsible for product development and 

design control relating to dialysis technology. She was 

previously the Marketing Coordinator in biotechnology 

company Chemel AB, where she also worked on product 

development.

Mrs Berntsen obtained a Master of Science in Chemical 

Engineering from the University of Lund, Sweden in 2007. 

MOK LAI SIONG 
Group General Manager,  

Investor Relations & Communications 

Ms Mok Lai Siong is Group General Manager, Investor 

Relations & Communications, and is responsible for the 

Group’s strategic communications with shareholders, 

potential investors, analysts and the media, as well as  

for branding and marketing.

Ms Mok has over 20 years of experience in 

communications and investor relations in multinational 

listed firms. Prior to joining the Company, she was Group 

General  Manager, Corporate Communications & Investor 

Relations for Singapore-listed conglomerate WBL 

Corporation from 2010 to 2013. From 2007 to 2010, Ms 

Mok worked in YTL Starhill REIT Management, the 

manager of Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trust, 

where her last held position was Senior Vice President, 

Investor Relations & Corporate Communications. She has 

also held various positions in CapitaLand, Oversea-

Chinese Banking Corporation, Overseas Union Bank, 

Pidemco Land and the National  University of Singapore.

Ms Mok holds a Master in Business (International 

Marketing) from the Curtin University of Technology, 

Australia, and a Bachelor of Arts degree in English and 

Philosophy from the National University of Singapore.



REX
TECHNOLOGIES
Rex International Holding has exclusive world-wide rights (apart from West 
Africa and Saudi Arabia) to use the suite of Rex Technologies – Rex Gravity, 
Rex Seepage and Rex Virtual Drilling – that were developed by our founders, 
Dr Karl Lidgren and Mr Hans Lidgren. The efficacy of Rex Virtual Drilling, a 
direct hydrocarbon detector, has been tried and tested many times; with 
success rates of more than 85 per cent.   

Rex International Holding is not a service provider, but uses the Rex 
Technologies solely for the Group’s own benefit, to create value for its 
shareholders by growing an international portfolio of licences. 

14 Rex Technologies Rex International Holding Limited
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REX VIRTUAL DRILLING

Traditionally, the oil industry uses seis-

mic data to search for oil. So do we, but 

in a new way. Rex Virtual Drilling is a 

highly advanced, proprietary technology 

that gives us the power to literally see 

the oil in the ground: Where it is; how 

deep it lies; how much there is; the 

quality of the oil. We may even see how 

the oil migrated to its current position. 

The oil discovery success rate is 

 significantly increased to over 50 per 

cent, compared to the global average  

of 10 –15 per cent.

Rex Virtual Drilling achieved 100 per 

cent accuracy in 18 blind and live tests 

conducted in Norway, New Zealand, 

 India, Ras al Khaimah and the US, as 

documented in our initial public 

offering document. 

The efficacy of this direct hydrocarbon 

detector has been further validated in 

August 2013 by North Energy ASA, who 

had monitored 59 prospects that had 

been screened using Rex Virtual Drilling 

over a two-year period. Out of the 41 

wells that were subsequently drilled, 35 

 predictions by Rex Virtual Drilling were 

positive. This translates to an overall 85 

per cent success rate, with success rates 

of 96 per cent for dry-well predictions 

and 69 per cent for commercial oil 

find predictions.

The technology has also been applied to 

all new concessions added to our port-

folio, where exploration drilling will 

soon be carried out.
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REX GRAVITY
Rex Gravity is an exploration technology 

that finds areas with suitable geological 

conditions for hydrocarbon accumula-

tions. Based on satellite gravity data, Rex 

Gravity measures water surface levels 

with the aim of finding anomalies in the 

sub-terrain, which could indicate the 

presence of hydrocarbons. Rex Gravity is 

a very cost-effective way to screen large 

areas for hydrocarbons before a decision 

is made to acquire seismic data.

REX SEEPAGE
Working in tandem with Rex Gravity,  

Rex Seepage is a tool we use to spot oil 

seepages offshore in order to better 

 understand the potential presence of  

oil reservoirs in the sub-terrain. Based 

on thermal satellite imaging spanning 

many years, the tool is able to provide 

high resolution and accurate informa-

tion about oil seepages from beneath 

the rock strata. The result of this 

cost-effective method is a much higher 

 probability of finding areas suitable for 

closer inspection with the acquisition 

of seismic data. 
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REXONICS

A new addition to Rex’s suite of tech-

nologies is the Rexonics technology, 

developed by our joint venture partners, 

Ogsonic AG, from Switzerland. Like Rex 

Virtual Drilling, the Rexonics technology 

is based on the science of acoustics, and 

is hence  complementary to and presents 

future development opportunities for the 

Group’s existing technologies. 

The Rexonics technology is the world’s 

first environmentally-friendly, high-power 

ultrasound technology for commercial oil 

well stimulation that has been proven  

to increase oil production by between 

30 per cent to up to 380 per cent both 

onshore and offshore. The proprietary, 

patented technology is highly efficient 

in cleaning the production well bore 

from typical oil  production inhibitors 

such as wax,  paraffin and salt deposits, 

thereby  significantly increasing the flow 

of oil into the well bore. The technology 

does not use any chemicals, and allows 

the well bores to continue oil produc-

tion during the cleaning process.

The joint venture company Rexonic AG 

operates on a service business model, 

providing production well bore cleaning 

services to national oil companies, oil 

majors and other oil production compa-

nies. This business model provides Rex 

 International Holding with an additional 

stream of recurring income from the oil 

production phase, without intensive 

capital outlay.

0 FT.

10,000 FT.

20,000 FT.

OFFSHORE ONSHORE

RESONATOR IN 
PERFORATION ZONE

ULTRASOUND POWER AT 
TOTAL DEPTH: 1.5KW

MAX. WELL TEMPERATURE
TESTED: 125°C

PLUGGED
PORE SPACES

ULTRASOUND
CLEANING

REMOVAL OF
PARTICLES

INCREASED
OIL FLOW



Rex International Holding LimitedGeographical Presence18

GEOGRAPHICAL 
PRESENCE

OMAN
BLOCK 50 
OFFSHORE

TRINIDAD
3 CONCESSIONS 

ONSHORE

USA1

FRAM EXPLORATION 
22.3% (LEASES  

IN CO & ND)

1 Upon completion of an investor's subscription of 6,288,238 new shares in Fram Exploration ASA
2 Assuming transfer of 20% stakes in PL 509S, PL 509BS and PL 509CS and additional 20% stake in PL 498 is completed.
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MILESTONES

2013

31 JULY
Rex International Holding debuts  

on Catalist, Singapore.

14 AUGUST
Rex International Holding signs term-

sheet to invest in three new exploration 

and  production licences – South Erin 

Block,  Inniss-Trinity and Cory Moruga  

– in Trinidad & Tobago with Pareto 

Staur SPV1 AS.

19 AUGUST
Jointly-controlled entity Masirah Oil 

Ltd ("Masirah")awards drilling contract 

for the Block 50 Oman concession.

18 SEPTEMBER
Rex International Holding to acquire 

10 per cent stakes in two licences  

– PL707 and PL708 – in Norway. The 

acquisition was effective from 29 

 November 2013.

20 SEPTEMBER
Jointly-controlled entity HIREX enters 

into a collaboration agreement for Rex 

Virtual Drilling to be used to scan 

exploration opportunities in Australia.

21 OCTOBER
Rex International Holding announces  

the restructuring of its holdings in  

US investments by exchanging Rex US 

Ltd’s 20 per cent direct interest in 

FRAM's US concessions and a cash 

payment of US$4.51 million, for an 

enlarged stake in FRAM.

Rex International Holding also 

announces that it will increase its 

stake in licence- holding company, 

Caribbean Rex, in Trinidad & Tobago, 

from 51.99 per cent to 64.17 per cent.

The aforementioned transactions, 

which were part of the restructuring 

of Rex International Holding’s 

shareholding arrangements with 

FRAM, were completed on 20 

November 2013. 

24 OCTOBER
Rex International Holding signs a 

shareholders’ agreement with Swiss 

firm  Ogsonic AG to set up a jointly 

controlled entity, Rexonic AG, which 

owns the world’s first environmentally-

friendly, high-power ultrasound 

technology for commercial oil well 

stimulation. The transactions relating to 

the joint venture was completed on 13 

November 2013 and Rex International 

Holding holds a 66.7 per cent stake in 

Rexonic AG. 
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2014

28 OCTOBER
Rex International Holding announces a 

placement of 70 million new ordinary 

shares, which will raise net proceeds  

of S$50.5 million. The placement was 

completed on 6 November 2013.

11 NOVEMBER
Rex International Holding to be added  

to the MSCI Singapore Small Cap Index 

after market close on 26 November.

 

25 NOVEMBER
Jointly-controlled entity Masirah 

spuds first well in Oman.

18 DECEMBER
Jointly controlled entity Caribbean 

Rex signs a share sale agreement to 

 acquire the remaining 25 per cent 

stake in Jasmin Oil and Gas Limited, 

which holds 100 per cent of the South 

Erin Block licence in Trinidad 

& Tobago.

 

30 DECEMBER
Jointly-controlled entity Masirah 

spuds second well in Oman.

8 JANUARY
Subsidiary Rex US Ltd enters into an 

agreement to divest its entire 49 per 

cent stake in Loyz Rex Drilling Services 

LLC as part of the restructuring of its 

holdings in US investments.

8 JANUARY
Shareholders of Lime Petroleum Plc 

inject US$16 million of capital into 

Lime Norway, in proportion to their 

 respective shareholdings, bringing 

the total amount of capital injected  

to US$23 million, which is sufficient 

to fund Lime Norway’s activities into 

2015.

21 JANUARY
Lime Norway is awarded five new 

 licences in Norway in the 2013 

Awards in Predefined Areas.

14 FEBRUARY
Rex International Holding announces 

its subscription to North Energy’s 

private placement.

21 FEBRUARY
Lime Norway to acquire 20 per cent 

stake in a new licence, PL509CS, in 

Norway.

3 DECEMBER
Jointly controlled entity Lime 

Petroleum Norway AS (“Lime Norway”) 

to acquire 20 per cent stakes in new 

 licences, PL509S and PL509BS, in 

Norway.
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OPERATIONS
REVIEW
The Company’s assets are located in regions that are known to 
be oil-prolific, have established infrastructure and attractive 
fiscal policies for oil exploration and production.
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OVERVIEW
According to the US Energy Information 

Administration (EIA), Oman is the largest 

oil producer in the Middle East that is 

not a member of the Organisation of the 

Petroleum Exploring Countries (OPEC). 

Oman’s 5.5 billion barrels of proved oil 

reserves rank 7th in the Middle East, 

and 21st in the world, and, similarly, the 

country's crude oil production ranks 7th 

in the Middle East and 22nd in the world. 

Located on the Arabian Peninsula, Oman’s 

proximity to the Arabian Sea, Gulf of Oman, 

and Persian Gulf grant it access to some 

of the most important energy corridors 

in the world, enhancing Oman’s position 

in the global supply chain. 

Oman’s hydrocarbons sector accounted 

for 86 per cent of government revenues 

in 2012, according to the country’s 

 Ministry of  Finance. According to IHS 

Global Insight, revenues from oil and 

natural gas  accounted for approximately 

40 per cent of Oman’s gross domestic 

product in 2012.¹

BLOCK 50 OMAN 
The approximately 17,000 sq km 

 offshore concession is located in Gulf  

of Masirah, east of Oman. 

Rex International Holding holds an indi-

rect 65 per cent stake in Lime Petroleum 

Plc (“Lime”) while Hibiscus Petroleum 

Berhad indirectly holds the remaining 

35 per cent stake. Lime holds a 64 per 

cent stake in Masirah Oil Ltd (“Masirah”) 

while PETROCI, the National Oil Company 

of the Ivory Coast (also known as Côte 

D`Ivoire), has a 36 per cent participating 

interest in Masirah. Masirah holds 100 per 

cent of the Block 50 Oman concession.

2013 OPERATIONS UPDATE
•  New seismic data were obtained and 

analysed using Rex Virtual Drilling.

•  An infill 2D seismic programme and a 

pseudo 100 metre-spacing 3D seismic 

swath were executed in the first quarter 

of 2013 and completed in April 2013.

•  Masirah, the holder of the Block 50 

Oman concession, drilled two wells  

in 2013. 

•  Drilling of the first well was suspended 

due to technical problems and for 

safety reasons in end December 2013, 

without reaching the target depth. 

•  An oil discovery was made in the 

 second well, which was spudded on 

30 December 2013. Drilling reached 

the final depth of >3,000 metres into 

65
per cent stake in 
Lime  Petroleum Plc is 
held  indirectly by Rex 
 International Holding.

MIDDLE EAST
OMAN
Block 50 Oman is one of the first concessions secured by the 
founders of Rex International Holding before the Company’s IPO.  
In 1986, the Company’s founders were involved in Lundin 
Petroleum’s (then known as International Petroleum Corporation 
(IPC)) commercial oil discovery in the Bukha field, offshore Oman.

1 Source: US Energy Information Administration (EIA) Analysis Brief on Oman, 10 October 2013
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the Cambrian formation. Hydrocarbons 

were discovered in several formations 

with good oil sample extracted. 

•  During a 48-hour test, hydrocarbons 

were flowed to the surface and the 

well achieved light oil flow rate of up 

to 3,000 stock tank barrels per day 

with no water production.

•  The Ministry of Oil & Gas of Oman has 

approved Masirah's entry in the 

Second Phase of the Minimum Work 

Obligation, starting from                      

23 March 2014. 

GOING FORWARD
•  The oil discovery is expected to 

 significantly reduce exploration risks 

associated with the future drilling of 

the acreage east of the Melange belt, 

and impact the valuations of the 

Block 50 Oman concession.

OIL DISCOVERY

An oil discovery was made 

in the second well in Block 50 

Oman, which was spudded on 30 

December 2013. Drilling reached the 

final depth of >3,000 metres into the 

Cambrian formation. Hydrocarbons 

were discovered in several forma-

tions with good oil sample 

extracted.
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MIDDLE EAST
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
Similar to Block 50 Oman, the concessions in the UAE are the first 
concessions secured by the founders of Rex International Holding. 
Farming out of interests in the concessions will be considered to reduce 
risks and obtain additional sources of funding for the drilling campaign.

OVERVIEW
The United Arab Emirates (UAE) comprises 

a federation of the seven emirates: Abu 

Dhabi, Ajman, Al Fujayrah, Dubai, Ras al 

Khaimah, Sharjah, and Umm al Qaywayn.  

A member of the OPEC and the Gas 

 Exporting Countries Forum (GECF), the 

UAE is one of the 10 largest oil and 

 natural gas producers in the world.

The UAE has relied on its large oil and 

natural gas resources to support its 

economy. According to the International 

Monetary Fund (IMF), hydrocarbon 

 export revenues were US$118 billion in 

2012, up from approximately US$75 

 billion in 2010. Overall, the hydrocarbon 

economy accounts for approximately  

80 per cent of  government revenues  

and more than half of the country’s 

goods exports.¹

RAS AL KHAIMAH 

RAK NORTH OFFSHORE
The 1,200 sq km offshore concession  

is located in the Strait of Hormuz. 

Rex International Holding holds an 

 indirect 65 per cent stake in Lime. Lime 

holds a 59 per cent stake in Dahan 

Petroleum Ltd.  Dahan Petroleum Ltd 

holds 100 per cent of the RAK North 

Offshore concession.

2013 OPERATIONS UPDATE
•  Preliminary Rex Virtual Drilling 

 analysis of 3D seismic data acquired 

in 1984 covering the neighbouring 

Saleh field and some acreage within 

the RAK  Offshore concession was 

 conducted.

1 Source: US Energy Information Administration (EIA) Analysis Brief on the UAE, 5 December 2013

 3,686
sq km – the total acreage 
of the Group’s onshore 
and offshore concessions 
in Ras al Khaimah and 
Sharjah in the UAE.
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•  Additional 3D seismic data acquired 

in 2012 which were scanned by Rex 

Virtual Drilling showed seismic 

 anomalies. 

•  A prospect has been prioritised and a 

well prognosis has been developed.

GOING FORWARD
•  Subject to the availability of suitable 

rigs, agreement and contribution of 

funding by concession partners and 

operators, regulatory approval and 

other factors, a drilling campaign has 

been planned for approximately the 

fourth quarter of 2014.

•  Farming out of interests in the con-

cession will be considered to reduce 

risks and obtain additional sources  

of funding for the drilling campaign.

RAK ONSHORE
The approximately 900 sq km onshore 

concession is located in Baqal, south  

of Ras al Khaimah. 

Lime holds a 100 per cent stake in Baqal 

Petroleum Ltd. Baqal  Petroleum Ltd 

holds 100 per cent of the  

RAK Onshore concession.

2013 OPERATIONS UPDATE
•  The seismic, gravity and magnetic 

survey datasets of the concession 

have been integrated and certain 

 areas have been identified for future 

seismic acquisition.

•  Tenders for the seismic data have 

been completed and submissions  

are being evaluated.

GOING FORWARD
•  Farming out of interests in the con-

cession will be considered to reduce 

risks and obtain additional sources of 

funding for the drilling campaign.

SHARJAH

The 1,600 sq km offshore concession is 

located in the Gulf of Oman. 

Lime holds a 100 per cent stake in 

Zubara Petroleum Ltd. Zubara  Petroleum 

Ltd holds 100 per cent of the  

Sharjah Offshore concession.

2013 OPERATIONS UPDATE
•  Rex Virtual Drilling has been applied 

to raw stack seismic data acquired in 

2012, to align conventional analysis of 

2D and 3D seismic datasets done by  

a third party. The results have been 

positive thus far.

GOING FORWARD
•  Subject to the availability of suitable 

rigs, agreement and contribution of 

funding by concession partners and 

 operators, regulatory approval and other 

factors, a drilling campaign has been 

planned for the last quarter of 2014.

•  Farming out of interests in the 

 concession will be considered to 

 reduce risks and obtain additional 

sources of funding for the drilling 

campaign.
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OVERVIEW
Norway is the largest holder of natural gas 

and oil reserves in Europe, and provides 

much of the oil and gas consumed on  

the continent. In 2012, Norway was the 

second largest exporter of natural gas in 

the world after Russia, and the seventh 

largest exporter of oil. 

According to the Norwegian Petroleum 

Directorate (NPD), crude oil, natural gas, 

and pipeline transport services accounted 

for almost 50 per cent of Norway’s 

exports revenues, 21 pe rcent of GDP, 

and 26  per cent of government revenues 

in 2010. 

According to The Oil and Gas Journal 

(OGJ), Norway had 5.32 billion barrels of 

proven oil reserves as of 1 January 

2012, the largest oil reserves in West-

ern Europe. All of Norway’s oil reserves 

are located offshore on the Norwegian 

Continental Shelf (NCS), which is divided 

into three sections: the North Sea, the 

Norwegian Sea and the Barents Sea. The 

bulk of Norway’s oil production occurs in 

the North Sea, with smaller amounts in 

the Norwegian Sea and new exploration 

and production activity occurring in the 

Barents Sea.¹

 

CONCESSIONS 
As at March 2014, the Group has 

 interests in 14 concessions in Norway  

– nine located in the North Sea, four in 

the Barents Sea and one in the Norwegian 

sea – totalling 6,420 sq km.

Rex International Holding holds an 

 indirect 65 per cent stake in Lime while 

 Hibiscus Petroleum Berhad indirectly 

holds the remaining 35 per cent stake. 

Lime holds a 100 per cent stake in Lime 

Petroleum Norway AS ("Lime Norway"). 

Lime  Norway holds 5–25 per cent inter-

ests in the various Norwegian licences.

2013 OPERATIONS UPDATE
•  Lime Petroleum Norway was accorded 

Pre-qualified Petroleum Company 

 status in February 2013, allowing it  

to apply for a cash tax refund for 78 

per cent of exploration costs under 

the Norwegian Petroleum Tax Act.

•  Acquired 10 per cent stakes in two 

 licences – PL707 and PL708 –            

effective from 29 November 2013.

•  Announced the acquisition of 20 per 

cent stakes in new licences, PL509S 

and PL509BS on 5 December 2013.

•  Awarded five new licences in the 

 Norwegian 2013 Awards in Predefined 

Areas (APA 2013) in January 2014.

•  Announced the acquisition of a 20 per 

cent stake in a new licence, PL509CS, 

on 21 February 2014.

GOING FORWARD
Subject to the availability of suitable 

rigs, agreement and contribution of 

funding by concession partners and 

 operators, regulatory approval and other 

factors, a first drilling campaign is 

scheduled for the last quarter of 2014.

NORWAY
As a Pre-qualified Petroleum Company, Lime Norway, the Group’s 
jointly controlled entity, can apply for a cash tax refund for 78 per 
cent of exploration costs under the Norwegian Petroleum Tax Act.

1 Source: US Energy Information Administration (EIA) Norway Analysis Brief, 17 December 2012
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 14
concessions in Norway as 
at March 2014; nine are 
located in the North Sea, 
one in the Norwegian Sea 
and four in the  Barents 
Sea.

  Licences before 31 Dec 2013      Licences acquired in 2014

BARENTS SEANORWEGIAN SEANORTH SEA
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TRINIDAD & TOBAGO
Trinidad & Tobago is the largest oil and natural gas producer in 
the Caribbean. One of the three concessions in the Group’s 
portfolio is already oil-producing and an active exploratory 
drilling campaign has been planned for 2014.

OVERVIEW
Trinidad & Tobago is the largest oil and 

natural gas producer in the Caribbean. 

Trinidad & Tobago had 728 million 

 barrels of proven crude oil reserves as 

of January 2013. The country produced 

119,000 barrels per day (bpd) of oil in 

2012, of which 82,000 bpd was crude 

oil including lease condensates and the 

remainder consisted mostly of natural 

gas liquids. 

Oil production in Trinidad & Tobago 

peaked at 179,000 bpd in 2006, 

 however, it has declined year-over-year 

since 2008. The declines have been 

 attributed to  maturing oilfields and 

 operational challenges, according to  

IHS Global Insight.¹

CONCESSIONS 
The Group’s 64.17 per cent-owned 

 licence-holding company Caribbean Rex 

Limited ("Caribbean Rex") holds three 

onshore licences: up to 100 per cent 

working interest in South Erin Block2, 

100 per cent interest in  Inniss-Trinity 

and 51 per cent working interest in the 

Cory Moruga block after completion of 

its drilling obligations during 2014.

South Erin Block currently has a 

 production average over the last three 

months of about 50 bpd of oil from four 

shallow wells. Under new tax legislation 

in Trinidad & Tobago effective from 

 January 2014, all revenue generated 

from oil production can be 100 per cent 

offset against exploration expenses.

2013 OPERATIONS UPDATE
•  Announced the signing of a term-sheet 

for access to the three licences in 

 August 2013.

•  Increased stake in Caribbean Rex to 

64.17 per cent from the initially stated 

stake of 51.99 per cent by paying a 

share consideration of US$3.05 

million to Fram Exploration ASA 

(“FRAM”), as part of a restructuring 

exercise in  relation to Rex 

International Holding’s US 

 concessions and onshore E&P 

 opportunities in Trinidad & Tobago. 

The said shares were allotted and 

 issued to FRAM on 15 November 2013.

•  Announced the acquisition of the 

remaining 25 per cent stake in Jasmin 

Oil and Gas Limited (“Jasmin”), which 

holds 100 per cent of the South Erin 

Block licence, from independent third 

parties. 

GOING FORWARD
•  Subject to the availability of suitable 

rigs, agreement and contribution of 

funding by concession partners and 

operators, regulatory approval and 

other factors, drilling of four to six 

exploration and development wells 

has been planned for 2014; with first 

drilling in second quarter of 2014.

•  Rex International Holding intends  

to inject additionally up to US$4  million 

while the other major shareholder of 

Caribbean Rex, West Indian Energy 

Holding AS, a company under the 

Pareto Staur group, intends to  inject 

up to US$2 million into  Caribbean Rex 

in early 2014.

1 Source: US Energy Information Administration (EIA) Country Analysis Note, Trinidad & Tobago, October 2013
2 Assuming the acquisition of the remaining 25% stake in Jasmin Oil and Gas Limited is completed
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UNITED STATES
In 2013, the Group embarked on a restructuring exercise on its US 
investment holdings to improve its effectiveness in administrative 
oversight and to facilitate FRAM’s preparation to becoming a listed 
company in its own right.

OVERVIEW

COLORADO
Colorado’s vast fossil fuel resources 

 include the Niobrara shale, with resource 

estimates running as high as two billion 

barrels of oil. From 2007 to 2011, crude 

oil production in Colorado rose 64  per 

cent and marketed natural gas 

 production rose 27 per cent.

NORTH DAKOTA
In 2011, North Dakota was the fourth 

largest crude oil-producing State in the 

Nation and accounted for over 7 per 

cent of total US crude oil production; a 

35 per cent increase in production from 

2010 to 2011 was primarily driven by 

horizontal drilling and hydraulic 

 fracturing in the Bakken formation.¹

CONCESSIONS
As at 31 July 2013, Rex International 

Holding held direct 20 per cent stakes in 

FRAM's Colorado and North Dakota 

concessions, which held reserves, and a 

24 per cent indirect interest in FRAM.

As at February 2014, Rex International 

Holding had a 27.87 per cent interest in 

FRAM, through its  wholly-owned 

subsidiary, Rex US Ltd. (“Rex US”). This 

follows from a restructuring exercise on 

its US investment holdings effected in 

November 2013.

Upon completion of an investor's 

subscription of 6,288,238 new shares in 

FRAM, Rex International Holding's 

stake in FRAM will be 22.3%.

2013 OPERATIONS UPDATE
•  Rex US had on 20 November 2013, 

completed the restructuring of its 

holdings in the US, exchanging Rex

US’s 20 per cent direct interest in 

FRAM’s US concessions and a cash 

payment of US$4.51 million, for an

enlarged stake in FRAM. 

•  Rex Virtual Drilling was used to analyse

limited available seismic data in North 

Dakota to determine the drilling

location of Schlak #3.

•  During the year, Rex US divested its

entire 49 per cent stake in Loyz Rex

Drilling Services LLC, as part of the 

restructuring of the Group’s holdings

in US  investments.

1 Source: US Energy Information Administration (EIA), State profile and energy estimates, Colorado and North Dakota, July 2012



COUNTRY LICENCE LOCATION AREA SQ KM ON/OFFSHORE LICENCE TYPE LICENCE HOLDING ENTITY
LICENCE HOLDING  
ENTITY’S  STAKE

REX’S EFFECTIVE STAKE IN  
LICENSE HOLDING ENTITY

OPERATOR OTHER PARTNERS

MIDDLE EAST

OMAN Block 50 Oman Gulf of Masirah 16,903 Offshore Exploration Masirah Oil 100% 41.6% Masirah Oil Hibiscus, PETROCI

UAE RAK Onshore Ras al Khaimah 886 Onshore Exploration Baqal Petroleum 100% 65% Baqal

RAK North Offshore Strait of Hormuz 1,200 Offshore Exploration Dahan Petroluem 59% 38.4% Dahan

Sharjah Gulf of Oman 1,600 Offshore Exploration Zubara Petroluem 100% 65% Zubara

NORWAY AS AT REX’S LISTING ON 31 JULY 2013

PL 503 North Sea 978 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 12.5% 8.1%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

PL 503 B North Sea 433 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 12.5% 8.1%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

PL 616 North Sea 333 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 5% 3.3%
Edison International  
Norway Branch

Noreco; Concedo; Skagen44; 
North Energy

PL 498 North Sea 278 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 5% 3.3%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

ACQUIRED FROM NORTH ENERGY IN 2013

PL 707 Barents Sea 982 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 10% 6.5%
Edison International  
Norway Branch

PGNiG; North Energy

PL 708 Barents Sea 507 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 10% 6.5% Lundin Norway AS LUKOIL; Edison; North Energy

PL 509 S North Sea 859 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20%* 13.0% North Energy ASA Fortis; Rocksource

PL 509 BS North Sea 118 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20%* 13.0% North Energy ASA Fortis; Rocksource

PL 498 North Sea 278 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20%* 13.0%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

AWARDED AT 2013 APA

PL 498 B North Sea 15 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 25% 16.3%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44

PL 503 C North Sea 180 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 12.5% 8.1%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

PL 762 Norwegian Sea 772 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20% 13.0% Noreco Norway AS North Energy; Fortis; Petoro

PL 769 Barents Sea 269 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20% 13.0% OMV (Norge) AS Concedo; North Energy

PL 770 Barents Sea 625 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20% 13.0%
Edison International  
Norway Branch 

North Energy

TO BE ACQUIRED FROM NORTH ENERGY IN 2014

PL 509 CS North Sea 71 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20%* 13.0% North Energy ASA Fortis; Rocksource

TRINIDAD & TOBAGO Cory Moruga Southern basin, Trinidad 30 Onshore
Development  
and Exploration

Caribbean Rex
20% (51% on  
conditions f ulfilled)

32.7%***** Caribbean Rex Ltd
West Indian Energy  
Holding AS

Inniss-Trinity Moruga district 24 Onshore Production
FRAM Exploration  
(Trinidad) Ltd***

100% 64.2% FRAM Exploration (Trinidad)
West Indian Energy  
Holding AS

South Erin Block South-west Trinidad 5.5 Onshore
Exploration  
and Production

Jasmin Oil and Gas Ltd**** 100% 64.2% Jasmin Oil and Gas
West Indian Energy  
Holding AS

US HELD THROUGH 22.3%^ DIRECT STAKE IN FRAM EXPLORATION ASA**

Colorado Whitewater Colorado 204 Onshore
Production  
and Exploration

FRAM Exploration 100% 22.3%^ FRAM Operating

North Dakota Williston North Dakota 39 Onshore
Production  
and Exploration

FRAM Exploration 100% 22.3%^ FRAM Operating

32 Licence Summary Rex International Holding Limited

LICENCE
SUMMARY

* Assuming transfer of 20% stakes in PL 509 S, PL 509 BS ad PL 509 CS and additional 20% stake in PL 498 is completed

**  In November 2013, Rex International Holding completed the restructuring of its holdings in US investments, which included the exchange  

of Rex US’s 20 per cent direct interest in FRAM Exploration’s Colorado and North Dakota concessions into FRAM Exploration shares. 
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COUNTRY LICENCE LOCATION AREA SQ KM ON/OFFSHORE LICENCE TYPE LICENCE HOLDING ENTITY
LICENCE HOLDING  
ENTITY’S  STAKE

REX’S EFFECTIVE STAKE IN  
LICENSE HOLDING ENTITY

OPERATOR OTHER PARTNERS

MIDDLE EAST

OMAN Block 50 Oman Gulf of Masirah 16,903 Offshore Exploration Masirah Oil 100% 41.6% Masirah Oil Hibiscus, PETROCI

UAE RAK Onshore Ras al Khaimah 886 Onshore Exploration Baqal Petroleum 100% 65% Baqal

RAK North Offshore Strait of Hormuz 1,200 Offshore Exploration Dahan Petroluem 59% 38.4% Dahan

Sharjah Gulf of Oman 1,600 Offshore Exploration Zubara Petroluem 100% 65% Zubara

NORWAY AS AT REX’S LISTING ON 31 JULY 2013

PL 503 North Sea 978 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 12.5% 8.1%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

PL 503 B North Sea 433 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 12.5% 8.1%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

PL 616 North Sea 333 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 5% 3.3%
Edison International  
Norway Branch

Noreco; Concedo; Skagen44; 
North Energy

PL 498 North Sea 278 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 5% 3.3%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

ACQUIRED FROM NORTH ENERGY IN 2013

PL 707 Barents Sea 982 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 10% 6.5%
Edison International  
Norway Branch

PGNiG; North Energy

PL 708 Barents Sea 507 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 10% 6.5% Lundin Norway AS LUKOIL; Edison; North Energy

PL 509 S North Sea 859 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20%* 13.0% North Energy ASA Fortis; Rocksource

PL 509 BS North Sea 118 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20%* 13.0% North Energy ASA Fortis; Rocksource

PL 498 North Sea 278 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20%* 13.0%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

AWARDED AT 2013 APA

PL 498 B North Sea 15 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 25% 16.3%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44

PL 503 C North Sea 180 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 12.5% 8.1%
Lotos Exploration and 
 Production Norway AS

Edison; Skagen44;  
North Energy

PL 762 Norwegian Sea 772 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20% 13.0% Noreco Norway AS North Energy; Fortis; Petoro

PL 769 Barents Sea 269 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20% 13.0% OMV (Norge) AS Concedo; North Energy

PL 770 Barents Sea 625 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20% 13.0%
Edison International  
Norway Branch 

North Energy

TO BE ACQUIRED FROM NORTH ENERGY IN 2014

PL 509 CS North Sea 71 Offshore Exploration Lime Petroleum Norway 20%* 13.0% North Energy ASA Fortis; Rocksource

TRINIDAD & TOBAGO Cory Moruga Southern basin, Trinidad 30 Onshore
Development  
and Exploration

Caribbean Rex
20% (51% on  
conditions f ulfilled)

32.7%***** Caribbean Rex Ltd
West Indian Energy  
Holding AS

Inniss-Trinity Moruga district 24 Onshore Production
FRAM Exploration  
(Trinidad) Ltd***

100% 64.2% FRAM Exploration (Trinidad)
West Indian Energy  
Holding AS

South Erin Block South-west Trinidad 5.5 Onshore
Exploration  
and Production

Jasmin Oil and Gas Ltd**** 100% 64.2% Jasmin Oil and Gas
West Indian Energy  
Holding AS

US HELD THROUGH 22.3%^ DIRECT STAKE IN FRAM EXPLORATION ASA**

Colorado Whitewater Colorado 204 Onshore
Production  
and Exploration

FRAM Exploration 100% 22.3%^ FRAM Operating

North Dakota Williston North Dakota 39 Onshore
Production  
and Exploration

FRAM Exploration 100% 22.3%^ FRAM Operating

*** FRAM Exploration (Trinidad) Ltd is a 100% owned subsidiary of Caribbean Rex Ltd

**** Jasmin Oil and Gas Ltd will be a 100% owned subsidiary of Caribbean Rex Ltd upon the completion of acquisition of the remaining 25% stake in Jasmin Oil and Gas Ltd

***** Conditioned on the increase from 20%–51% working interest, on conditions fulfilled

^ Upon completion of an investor’s subscription of 6,288,238 new shares in Fram Exploration ASA
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JOINT VENTURES
HIREX is focused on sourcing exploration opportunities in the 
Asia-Pacific region, while Rexonic provides commercial oil well 
stimulation services to oil production and oil service companies 
with its proprietary environmentally-friendly and highly effectively 
ultrasound technology.

HIREX PETROLEUM SDN BHD

HiRex Petroleum Sdn Bhd (“HIREX”) is a 41:41:15:3 jointly- 

controlled entity between Rex International Holding, 

 Hibiscus Petroleum Sdn Bhd, Triax Ventures Corp and HIREX’s 

management respectively, for exploration opportunities  

in the Asia-Pacific region, covering 11 countries including 

 Australia, Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, 

New Zealand, Papua New Guinea, Thailand, the Philippines 

and Vietnam.

HIREX aims to identify and pursue equity stakes of 10 to 

30 per cent in high-impact and low entry cost exploration 

opportunities, assisted by the use of Rex Virtual Drilling. 

OPERATIONS REVIEW 2013
•  In June 2013, HIREX signed an agreement to receive a 

US$10 million investment from Panama-based company, 

Triax Ventures Corp, in exchange for a 15 per cent stake 

in HIREX, effectively valuing HIREX at approximately 

US$67 million. This investment is expected to cover    

HIREX’s operating costs for its first two years.

•  In September 2013, HIREX entered into a collaboration 

agreement for Rex Virtual Drilling to be used to scan 

exploration opportunities in Australia.

•  Thus far, 14 opportunities have been placed in the 

 pipeline for screening by Rex Virtual Drilling.

GOING FORWARD
•  HIREX aims to identify at least three exploratory assets 

for potential investment  annually. 

REXONIC AG

Rexonic AG (“Rexonic”) is a 66.7:33.3 joint venture between 

Rex International Holding and Ogsonic AG from Switzerland. 

Rexonic owns the world’s first environmentally-friendly, 

high-power ultrasound technology for commercial oil well 

stimulation that has shown to increase oil production by 

30 per cent to up to 380 per cent both onshore and 

offshore. The proprietary, patented technology, developed 

by Ogsonic AG’s founders, is highly efficient in cleaning 

production well bores from typical oil production 

inhibitors such as wax, paraffin and salt deposits, thereby 

significantly  increasing the flow of oil into the well bores 

at lower cost. 

Rexonic’s operating business models will include the 

 servicing and licensing of the technology to oil production 

companies and oil service companies.

OPERATIONS REVIEW 2013
•  In October 2013, Rex International Holding entered into 

a shareholders’ agreement to regulate the affairs of the 

newly formed jointly controlled entity Rexonic. Rex 

International Holding paid US$10 million in cash and 

S$12.4 million (equivalent to approximately US$9.95 

million) in new Rex International Holding shares for a 

66.7 per cent stake in Rexonic, effectively valuing the 

company at US$30 million.

GOING FORWARD
•  Rexonic will continue to build up its technical team  

and work towards securing contracts, beyond its initial 

foothold in Central and South America.



Rex International Holding Limited36 Sustainability

SUSTAINABILITY
Rex International Holding’s commitment to sustainability in  
its business operations is founded on the strong advocacy for 
the environment by our co-founder, Dr Karl Lidgren and our 
CEO, Mr Måns Lidgren.

Our co-founder Dr Karl Lidgren, who 

obtained his professorship in 

Economics of Innovations at Lund 

University,  Sweden at the age of 32, 

started the Foundation TEM (Technique, 

Environment and  Economics in the late 

1970s/early 1980s and was the 

foundation’s first director. 

 

In 1994, he established the International 

Institute for Industrial Environmental 

Economics (IIIEE), where he served as  

its founding director until 2000, with 

support of the Swedish  Government. 

 Inaugurated by the King of Sweden, the 

Institute has since conferred Master’s 

degrees to graduates from more than 

80 countries. 

Our CEO Mr Måns Lidgren, had upon his 

graduation from Lund University in 2000, 

provided consultancy services to Global 

Responsibility, an organisation that 

seeks to promote responsible citizenship 

worldwide, helping companies 

communicate their efforts in 

environment, health and safety issues.

ENVIRONMENTALLY-FRIENDLY 
 TECHNOLOGIES
The creators of the Rex Technologies,  

Dr Karl Lidgren and his brother, Mr Hans 

Lidgren, were among the first to use 

satellite altimeter data in oil exploration 

activities. Their technology has enabled 

major oil and gas findings since the 

1980s. 

Rex Gravity and Rex Seepage, which 

uses satellite information to hone in on 

specific areas for further oil exploration; 

and Rex Virtual Drilling, the direct 

hydrocarbon detector based on analysis 

of seismic data, empower Rex 

International Holding to have a higher 

chance of success in finding oil, and in 

turn,  minimises the use of resources 

and the adverse impact on the 

environment as fewer dry wells will be 

drilled. 

Rexonics, the new addition to Rex 

 International Holding’s suite of 

 technologies, is the world’s first 

 environmentally-friendly, high-power 

 ultrasound technology for commercial 

oil well stimulation that has shown to 

increase oil production by 30 per cent 

to up to 380 per cent both onshore and 

offshore. This acoustics-based cleaning 

method does not involve any chemicals, 

reduces water waste, causes no 

pollution in sea, air or land and 

minimises health hazards for 

human resources. 

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH,  
SAFETY & SECURITY
Rex International Holding is committed to 

ensuring the highest level of safety and 

quality in carrying out our operations.  

We strive for injury-free and safe working 

environment for all our employees and 

our safety procedures and standards are 

in line with industry standards and are 

subject to regular review. 

At every stage of any activity, our 

 employees are the first line of defence 

against a potential incident. We ensure 

that our employees are given appropriate 

training and that there are competent 

 individuals who will be able to stop any 

activity where there is an unacceptable 

safety risk, which we believe is vital to 

operational safety. The safety of our 

 employees and contractors, and the 

communities in which we operate, are the 

core of our commitment to operations 

 integrity. 

Excellence in safety security and health   

in the workplace is a core value for our 

Group. We manage the risks associated 

with our operations through the 

implementation of our Operations Risk 

Management System (“ORMS”). The ORMS 

will be adapted to the local rules and 

regulations in each jurisdiction where we 

have operations. Each of our employees 

and contractors accepts safety as a 

Rex International Holding is 
committed to ensuring the 
highest level of safety and 
quality in carrying out our 
operations. We strive for 
injury-free and safe work-
ing environment for all our 
employees and our safety 
procedures and  standards 
are in line with industry 
standards and are subject 
to regular review.
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requirement and necessity and 

maintains strict compliance to our 

safety procedures. In addition, our 

contractors are subject to 

prequalification where we evaluate their 

safety performance as a key criterion. 

•  At the Block 50 Oman concession, our 

Environmental Impact Assessment 

 report had fully considered and  

aimed to minimise the impact of our 

 activities on the thriving marine and 

mammal population in Masirah Bay. 

•  In December 2013, our 64 per cent-

owned jointly controlled entity 

Caribbean Rex obtained STOW (Safe TO 

Work) certification,  accorded by the 

Trinidad & Tobago  Energy Chamber to 

prequalifying  contractors who operate 

according to superior Environment, 

Health, Safety and Security principles. 

SUSTAINABLE 
 TECHNOLOGIES

Rex Virtual Drilling minimises the 

use of resources and the adverse 

impact on the environment, as fewer 

dry wells need to be drilled. Rexonics 

is the world’s first environmentally 

friendly, high-power ultrasound 

technology for commercial oil 

well stimulation.
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2013 INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

3Q 2013
• Commencement of trading on Catalist, Singapore
• Bank of America Merrill Lynch Corporate Day, Singapore
• Release of 2Q 2013 financial results

4Q 2013
• DBS Vickers Corporate Day, Kuala Lumpur
• 19th Asia Upstream Conference, Singapore
• Macquarie Tiffin Lunch, Singapore
• Non-Deal Roadshow with DBS Vickers, US
•  Commencement of trading of new private                  

placement shares
• Release of 3Q 2013 financial results
• JP Morgan Asia Rising Dragons Forum, Hong Kong

CONTACT US
If you have any enquiries or would like to find out more 

about Rex International Holding, please contact:

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES 
Rex International Holding Limited

1 George Street #14-01 

Singapore 049145

Phone: +65 6557 2477

Fax: +65 6438 3164

Email: info@rexih.com or ir@rexih.com 

Website: www.rexih.com 

SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services

(A division of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd.)

80 Robinson Road #02-00

Singapore 068898

Telephone: +65 6236 3333

Website: www.sg.tricorglobal.com

SHARE DEPOSITORY
The Central Depository (Pte) Limited

4 Shenton Way

#02-01 SGX Centre 2

Singapore 068807

Phone: +65 6535 7511

Fax: +65 6535 0775

Email: cdp@sgx.com

Website: www.cdp.com.sg

INVESTOR RELATIONS
& COMMUNICATIONS

Rex International Holding aims to communicate to all stakeholders 

in a consistent, transparent and timely manner. Communication 

platforms such as announcements, press releases, investor 

 presentations, annual reports and the corporate website were 

extensively employed to provide clear and timely  information 

on Rex International Holding’s business activities.

From the Company’s listing on 31 July 2013 to 31 December 

2013, Rex International Holding issued more than 55 announce-

ments and conducted over 70 one-on-one and group meetings, 

as well as conference calls, with local and foreign investors or 

analysts. During the second half of the financial year, we also 

participated in equity forums, conferences and investor road-

shows in Singapore, Malaysia, Hong Kong and the US. As at 31 

December 2013, about a dozen research houses have carried 

reports about Rex International Holding, of which two have 

ratings on the stock. 

We continue to work closely with our partners and the relevant 

authorities in the various jurisdictions where our concessions 

are located, to share accurate and timely information, with the 

objective of addressing concerns and strengthening relation-

ships with shareholders,  potential investors and analysts. 
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FINANCIAL
REVIEW

REVENUE
During the financial year ended 31 December 2013 ("FY2013"), 

the Group is mainly involved in exploration and drilling 

activities and has not yet commenced any production. 

Therefore, no revenue was generated during FY2013. 

The Group holds interests in jointly-controlled entities that are 

equity accounted and generated revenue in FY2013, which are 

not reflected in the consolidated income statement. The 

Group holds a participating interest in the Innis-Trinity 

concession in Trinidad & Tobago that is producing oil and 

generating revenue through Caribbean Rex. 

Since October 2013, the Group has held a 66.7 per cent 

interest in Rexonic, which has started to generate revenue 

through its high-power ultrasound technology for production 

oil well stimulation.

ADMINISTRATIVE FEES AND EXPENSES
Administration fees and expenses for FY2013 amounted to 

US$5.27 million, mainly related to staff and office costs for 

the operating expenses in Singapore, together with 

consultancy fees for geologists/geophysicists and other 

competent persons. 

Expenses incurred for the IPO which could not be capitalised 

in FY2013 amounted to US$2.52 million. Additional expenses 

related to the IPO of US$5.37 million and the Second 

Placement1 of US$1.52 million were deducted against the 

share capital.

SHARE OF PROFIT/(LOSS) OF 
JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTRIES
During FY2013, the Company restructured its shareholdings in 

FRAM and divested the Group’s interest in LRDS, resulting in a 

net gain of US$0.57 million on the respective disposal of the 

jointly controlled operation and the jointly controlled entity.

The Group accounted a gain on dilution from its interest in a 

jointly controlled entity HIREX, pursuant to an external 

investor’s investment of US$10.00 million for a 15 per cent 

equity interest in HIREX. Although the Group’s interest has 

been diluted from 49 per cent to 41 per cent as at 31 

December 2013, the Group recorded a gain of US$4.00 million.

A share of loss in an associate relates to the Group’s 

investment in FRAM, which was effected through the share 

swap on 26 April 2013. Due to the restructuring of the Group’s 

assets in the US, the investment in Fram was reclassified on 

18 October 2013 from an ‘investment in associate’ to an 

‘available-for-sale investment’. The share of loss in FRAM up 

till 18 October 2013 amounted to US$0.81 million, primarily 

due to developing costs for its assets in the Colorado and 

North Dakota concessions, and has been recognised as share 

of loss in an associate in FY2013. 

The Group recorded a share of loss in jointly controlled 

entities of US$4.36 million, which relate to the Group´s 

investments in Lime, HIREX, Caribbean Rex, Rexonic and LRDS.

The operative share of loss in HIREX amounted to US$0.58 

million for FY2013, while the share of loss in Rexonic and 

Caribbean Rex, which were both acquired in October 2013, 

amounted to US$0.65 million and US$0.31 million respectively. 

The losses in relation to HIREX, Caribbean Rex and Rexonic 

were mainly due to start-up costs in FY2013. Lime accounted 

for a loss amounting to US$1.49 million in FY2013, mainly 

relating to exploration activities. The Group also experienced 

in FY2013 a loss of US$1.33 million in LRDS due to down time 

for drilling as a result of unexpected weather conditions.

As expected, the Group recorded a total comprehensive loss 

of US$8.55 million for FY2013 as compared to a total 

comprehensive loss of US$1.18 million for FY2012.

1  Rex International Holding had on 6 November 2013 completed a placement of 70 million new ordinary shares at an issue price of S$0.755 per share 
 (the "Second Placement").
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND CASHFLOW

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current assets increased to US$82.50 million as at 

31 December 2013 from US$7.36 million as at 31 December 

2012, mainly due to an increase of US$35.35 million in 

investment in jointly controlled entities and available-for-sale 

investments of US$39.72 million as at 31 December 2013. The 

Group did not have any available-for-sale investment as at 

31 December 2012.

The increase in investment in jointly controlled entities 

relates to the Group´s investments in Caribbean Rex, HIREX, 

Lime and Rexonic. The breakdown by entity as at 31 December 

2013 and 31 December 2012 is as follows:

 As at  As at  

 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

 US$’ million US$’ million

Caribbean Rex 11.35 –

HIREX 3.40 –

Lime 8.31 5.25

LRDS – 2.11

Rexonic 19.64 –

Total 42.70 7.36

Available-for-sale investment relates to shares in FRAM, 

amounting to US$39.72 million as at 31 December 2013.

 

CURRENT ASSETS
Current assets increased to US$94.86 million as at 31 

December 2013 from zero as at 31 December 2012, mainly 

due to the following:

(i)  An increase in cash and cash equivalents of US$82.27 

million, arising from the IPO proceeds and Second 

Placement received by the Group;

(ii)  An increase in other investments of US$7.52 million as a 

result of an investment in debt securities;

(iii)  An increase in other receivables of US$4.50 million, which 

relates to consideration receivable for the sale of the 

Group’s 49 per cent indirect interest in LRDS as part of 

the restructuring of its assets in the US. The Group has 

received its settlement on 7 February 2014; and

(iv)  An increase in trade and other receivables amounting to 

US$0.57 million, relating to sundry debtors, deposits and 

interest receivables.

The Group had a positive working capital of US$94.33 million 

as at 31 December 2013.

CASH FLOW
During FY2013, net cash used in operating activities of 

US$7.94 million comprise mainly of listing expenses arising 

from the IPO and consultancy fees for competent persons 

reports as well as costs for staff and office operating costs in 

Singapore. 

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to US$41.33 

million in FY2013 are primarily related to the investment in 

jointly controlled entities and available-for-sale investments 

of US$30.87 million. There was also an investment of US$7.56 

million in debt securities and US$2.84 million primarily in 

exploration and evaluation assets which has been written off 

as part of the disposal in LRDS.

Net cash received from financing activities amounted to 

US$131.80 million in FY2013. In FY2013, an aggregate of 

US$139.93 million was received through the IPO and the 

Second Placement, partially offset by placement expenses 

amounting to US$6.89 million and repayment of loan to a 

related corporation amounting to US$1.90 million.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had cash and cash 

equivalents of US$82.27 million.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
      

Rex International Holding Limited (the “Company”) is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate 

governance principles and processes in managing its business and affairs, so as to improve the performance, accountability, and 

transparency of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”).

During the financial year under review, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board” or the “Directors”) has reviewed its 

corporate governance practices and ensured that they are in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Code of Corporate 

Governance 2012 (the “2012 CG Code”) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore and the Catalist Rules of the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) (the “Catalist Rules”). Where applicable, deviations from the 2012 CG Code have 

been explained.

This corporate governance report sets out how the Company has applied the principles of good corporate governance in 

a disclosure-based regime where the accountability of the Board to the Company’s shareholders and the Management to the 

Board provides a framework for achieving a mutually beneficial tripartite relationship aimed at creating, enhancing and growing 

sustainable shareholders’ value.

BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collectively 
responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this objective and the 
Management remains accountable to the Board.

The primary role of the Board is to protect and enhance long-term shareholders’ value. It sets the corporate strategies of the 

Group and directions and goals for the Management. The Board also supervises the Management and monitors the Management’s 

performance against the goals set to enhance shareholders’ value. The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance 

of the Group.

Regular meetings are held by the Board to deliberate the strategic policies of the Company, including significant acquisitions 

and disposals, review and approve annual budgets, review the performance of the business and approve the public release of 

periodic financial results. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year and these meetings will coincide with the 

Group’s quarterly financial results announcement. To ensure meetings are held regularly with maximum Directors’ participation, 

the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”) allow for telephone conferencing meetings. The Board will also convene 

additional meetings for particular matters as and when they are deemed necessary. 

The responsibility of day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated to the Executive Chairman 

and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group (the “CEO”). The CEO does not sit on the Board. The CEO has accumulated sufficient and 

valuable experience to hold his position in order to ensure that his fiduciary duties can be carried out in an effective and efficient 

manner.
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The Board has established an internal framework to ensure that the type of material transactions that require the Board’s approval 

is consistently applied throughout the Group.  Matters requiring Board’s approval include:

(a) Overall Group business and budget strategy;

(b) Capital expenditures, investments or divestments exceeding certain material limits;

(c) All capital-related matters including capital issuance;

(d) Significant policies governing the operations of the Company;

(e) Corporate strategic development and restructuring; 

(f) Material interested person transactions; and

(g) Risk management strategies.

For each newly appointed Director, he/she will receive a formal induction covering the Company’s business operations, policy 

and procedures as well as the statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he/she has a proper 

understanding of the Company and is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations of being a Director. The Company will 

provide training for first-time Directors in areas such as accounting, legal and industry specific knowledge as appropriate and 

such training will be arranged and funded by the Company. For future appointments, the Company will also provide each newly 

appointed Director with a formal letter of appointment setting out the Director’s duties and obligations.

Except for Mr Sin Boon Ann and Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan, the rest of the Directors of the Company do not have prior 

experience as a Director of public listed companies in Singapore. Mr Dan Broström, Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren and Mr Abderahmane 

Fodil had attended the Listed Company Director courses conducted by the Singapore Institute of Directors (the “SID”) to prepare 

and familiarise themselves with the roles and responsibilities of Directors of a listed company.

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding the training of Directors. Directors are updated with the latest professional 

developments in relation to the Catalist Rules and other applicable regulatory updates or amendments to relevant laws, rules and 

regulations to ensure the compliance of the same by all Directors.

To facilitate effective management and to support the Board in discharging its duties and responsibilities efficiently and 

effectively, certain functions of the Board have been delegated to various Board committees, namely the Audit Committee (the 

“AC”), the Nominating Committee (the “NC”) and the Remuneration Committee (the “RC”) (collectively the “Board Committees”). The 

Board Committees function within clearly defined terms of references and operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular 

basis. In addition, in order to strengthen the independence of the Board, the Company has appointed Mr Sin Boon Ann as its Lead 

Independent Director.  Shareholders will be able to consult the Lead Independent Director to address their concerns for which 

contact through the normal channels of the Executive Chairman, the CEO or the Chief Financial Officer has failed to resolve or for 

which such contact is inappropriate.
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The Company was admitted to the Official List of the Catalist of the SGX-ST on 31 July 2013. The Board conducts regular scheduled 

meetings on a quarterly basis. Where circumstances require, ad-hoc meetings are arranged. Attendance of the Directors 

via telephone conference is allowed under Article 101(A) of the Company’s Articles of Association. The number of Board and 

Board Committee meetings held and the attendance of each Board member during the period from 11 January 2013 (date of 

incorporation) up to 31 December 2013 are as follows:

Name of Director

Board AC RC NC
No. of meetings No. of meetings No. of meetings No. of meetings
Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Dan Broström (1) 6 6 - - - - - -

Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren (1) 6 6 - - - - 1 1

Muhammad Sameer 

   Yousuf Khan (2)

5 5 2 2 1 1 1 1

Abderahmane Fodil (2) 5 5 2 2 1 1 1 1

Sin Boon Ann (2) 5 5 2 2 1 1 1 1

Bernt Eivind Østhus (3) 2 2 - - 1 - - -

Notes:

(1)  Mr Dan Broström and Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren were appointed directors of the Company on 11 January 2013 and 1 May 

2013, respectively.

(2)   Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan, Mr Abderahmane Fodil and Mr Sin Boon Ann were appointed directors of the Company 

on 26 June 2013. 

(3)  Mr Bernt Eivind Østhus was appointed director of the Company on 13 May 2013 and resigned as a director of the Company 

on 18 October 2013.

While the Board considers Directors’ attendance at Board meetings to be important, it is not the only criterion which the Board 

uses to measure Directors’ contributions. The Board also takes into account the contributions by Board members in other forms 

including periodical reviews, provision of guidance and advice on various matters relating to the Group.
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Board Composition and Balance

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgement 
on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management and 10% shareholders. No individual or small group of 
individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board comprises five directors: one Executive Director and Chairman, one Non-Executive Director and three Independent Non-

Executive Directors, which have the appropriate mix of core competencies and diversity of experience to direct and lead the 

Company. There is a good balance between the executive and non-executive Directors, with a strong and independent element on 

the Board. As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the following members:

Mr Dan Broström  Executive Director and Chairman

Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren Non-Executive Director

Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan Independent and Non-Executive Director

Mr Abderahmane Fodil Independent and Non-Executive Director

Mr Sin Boon Ann  Lead Independent and Non-Executive Director

The composition of the Board will be reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of 

expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competencies for effective functioning and informed 

decision-making.

The Board is of the view that the current board size is appropriate to effectively facilitate decision making in relation to the 

operations of the Group, taking into account the nature and scope of the Company’s operations. The Board believes that 

the current Board members comprise persons whose diverse skills, experience and attributes provide for effective direction 

for the Group.  The NC is also of the view that the current Board members comprise persons with a broad range of expertise 

and experience in diverse areas including accounting, finance, law, business and management, strategic planning and regional 

business experience.

The Board at all times complied with the minimum requirements of the Catalist Rules relating to the appointment of at least two 

non-executive directors who are independent, and also complied with Guideline 2.1 of the 2012 CG Code that at least one third 

of the Board comprises independent directors. Guideline 2.2 of the 2012 CG Code which requires that the independent directors 

make up at least half of the Board in view that the Executive Chairman is non-independent and is part of the management team 

is also satisfied. The Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr Abderahmane Fodil, Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan and Mr Sin 

Boon Ann have confirmed that they do not have any relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its 10% shareholders 

or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the their independent business 

judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company.

The independence of each Director is also reviewed annually by the NC. The NC adopts the Code’s definition of what constitutes 

an independent director in its review. The NC has reviewed and determined that the said Directors are independent. Taking into 

account the views of the NC, the Board has determined that the said Directors are independent in character and judgement and 

there are no relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the said Directors’ judgement.

There is no relationship among members of the Board. Key information regarding the Directors is given in the “Board of Directors” 

section on pages 9-11 of this annual report.
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Particulars of interests of Directors who held office at the end of the financial year in shares, debentures, warrants and share 

options in the Company and in related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are set out in the “Directors’ Report” 

section on pages 70 and 74 of this annual report.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors should constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategies. To facilitate 

a more effective check on Management, the Independent Non-Executive Directors are encouraged to meet regularly without the 

presence of Management. 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the executives 
responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a considerable concentration of power.

The Company keeps the roles of the Executive Chairman and CEO separate. Mr Dan Broström, the Executive Director and Chairman, 

and Mr Måns Lidgren, the CEO, are not related to each other. The Company believes in a clear division of responsibilities between 

the Executive Chairman and the CEO to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of 

the Board for independent decision making.

The CEO is responsible for the business management and day-to-day operations of the Group. He takes a leading role in 

developing and expanding the businesses of the Group including making major business and finance decisions. He also oversees 

the execution of the Group’s corporate and business strategy as set out by the Board and ensures that the Directors are kept 

updated and informed of the Group’s businesses.

The Executive Chairman leads the Board discussions and also ensures that Board meetings are convened when necessary. He sets 

the Board’s meeting agenda and ensures that Directors are provided with complete, adequate and timely information. He chairs 

the Board meetings and encourages the Board members to present their views on topics under discussion at the meetings. He 

also assists in ensuring compliance with the Group’s guidelines on corporate governance. He encourages constructive relations 

within the Board and between the Board and the Management, and ensures effective communications with shareholders. 

The Executive Chairman’s performance and appointment to the Board were reviewed by the NC. The Executive Chairman’s and 

CEO’s remuneration packages were reviewed by the RC. As the roles of the Executive Chairman and CEO are separate, and the AC, 

NC and RC comprise a majority of Independent Directors of the Company, the Board believes that there are adequate safeguards 

in place to ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

In addition, the appointment of Mr Sin Boon Ann as the Lead Independent Director where the Executive Chairman is part of the 

management team and is not an independent director is in line with the recommendation under Guideline 3.3 of the 2012 CG 

Code. To facilitate well-balanced viewpoints on the Board, the Lead Independent Director should, where necessary, chair meetings 

with the Independent Directors without the involvement of other Directors, and the Lead Independent Director will provide 

feedback to the Executive Chairman after such meetings.
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Board Membership

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of Directors to the 
Board.

The Board has established a NC which comprises three members, a majority of whom including the chairman, are Independent 

Directors. The members of the NC are as follows:

Mr Sin Boon Ann Chairman Lead Independent and Non-Executive Director

Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan Member Independent and Non-Executive Director

Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren Member Non-Executive Director

The NC functions under the terms of reference, which sets out its responsibilities which include, inter alia:

(a) recommending to the Board on all board appointments, including re-nominations of existing directors for re-election in 

accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, having regard to the Director’s contribution and performance. 

All Directors shall be required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals and at least once 

every three years;

(b) reviewing and approving any new employment of related persons and their proposed terms of employment;

(c) reviewing and recommending to the Board succession plans for the Company’s Directors, in particular, for the Executive 

Chairman and the CEO;

(d) determining annually, and as and when circumstances require, whether or not a Director is independent;

(e) in respect of a director who has multiple board representations on various companies, to review and decide whether 

or not such Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as Director, having regard to the 

competing time commitments that are faced when serving on multiple boards and discharging his/her duties towards 

other principal commitments;

(f) deciding whether or not a Director of the Company is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a 

Director; and

(g) implementing a process for evaluation of the performance of the Board, the Board Committees and Directors and 

proposing objective performance criteria, as approved by the Board that allows comparison with its industry peers, and 

addresses how the Board has enhanced long-term shareholders’ value.
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The Company has in place policies and procedures for the appointment of new Directors to the Board, including a search and 

nomination process. The search for a suitable candidate is drawn from the contacts and networks of existing Directors. The 

NC can also approach relevant institutions such as the SID, professional organisations or business federations to source for a 

suitable candidate. New Directors are appointed by way of Directors’ resolution, after the NC has reviewed and nominated them by 

taking into consideration the qualification and experience of each candidate, his/her ability to increase the effectiveness of the 

Board and to add value to the Group’s business in line with its strategic objectives. The Articles have stated clearly the procedures 

for the appointment of new Directors, re-election and removal of Directors. 

The Articles require at least one-third of the Board for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number 

nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting (“AGM”). A retiring 

Director is eligible for re-election by the shareholders at the AGM. Accordingly, the Directors will submit themselves for re-

nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once every three years. 

The Articles further provide that any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next AGM of the 

Company and shall then be eligible for re-election, but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors who are 

to retire by rotation at such meeting. The NC has recommended to the Board that Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren, Mr Sin Boon Ann,  

Mr Abderahmane Fodil and Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan, who are due to retire pursuant to the aforesaid provision, be  

re-elected at the forthcoming AGM. Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren will, upon re-election as Director, remain as a Non-Executive Director 

and a member of NC. Mr Sin Boon Ann will, upon re-election as a Director, remain as the Lead Independent and Non-Executive 

Director, Chairman of the NC and RC and a member of the AC. Mr Abderahmane Fodil will, upon re-election as Director, remain as an 

Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the AC and RC.  Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan will, upon re-election as 

Director, remain as an Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of AC and a member of the NC and RC.  Mr Sin Boon Ann, Mr 

Abderahmane Fodil and Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(7) of the 

Catalist Rules. 

Pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore, a person of or over the age of 70 years may, by an 

ordinary resolution passed at an AGM of a company be appointed or re-appointed as a director of the company to hold office or be 

authorised to continue in office as a director of the company, until the next AGM of the company. Mr Dan Broström, who is over 70 

years of age, has offered himself for re-appointment as a Director of the Company. The NC has recommended the re-appointment 

of Mr Dan Broström as a Director of the Company at the forthcoming AGM. Mr Dan Broström will, upon re-appointment as a Director 

of the Company, remain as an Executive Director and Chairman of the Board.

In making the above recommendations, the NC has considered the respective Directors’ overall contributions and performance. 

Each member of the NC has abstained from making any recommendations and/or participating in any deliberations of the NC in 

respect of the assessments of his own performance or re-nomination as a Director.
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Key information regarding the Directors, including their present and past three years’ directorship in other listed companies and 

other principal commitments are set out below: 

Director Position
Date of initial 
appointment

Date of last 
re-election 
/ re-
appointment

Current 
directorships 
in other listed 
companies

Directorships 
in other listed 
companies over 
the past three 
years

Principal 
commitments

Dan Broström Executive 

Director and 

Chairman 

11 January 2013 NA NA NA NA

Dr Karl Helge 

   Tore Lidgren

Non-Executive 

Director

1 May 2013 NA NA NA NA

Sin Boon Ann Lead 

Independent 

Non-Executive 

Director

26 June 2013 NA -  Swee Hong 

Limited

-  OSIM 

International Ltd

-  OUE Limited

-  Transview 

Holding Limited

-  CSE Global 

Limited

-  Courage Marine 

Group Limited

-  MFS Technology 

Ltd

-  Deputy 

Managing 

Director at Drew 

& Napier LLC

Muhammad 

Sameer 

Yousuf Khan

Independent 

Non-Executive 

Director 

26 June 2013 NA NA NA -  Principal – Asia 

at CFO Centre

Abderahmane 

Fodil

Independent 

Non-Executive 

Director

26 June 2013 NA NA NA -  Chief Investment 

Officer at Global 

Investment 

Holding Co Ltd

NA – Not Applicable

Each member of the NC abstains from voting on any resolutions and making recommendation and/or participating in respect of 

matters in which he has an interest.
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Board Performance

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board committees and 
the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Board has established processes including taking into consideration the attendance record at the meetings of the Board and 

the Board Committees for monitoring and evaluating the performance of the Board as a whole and effectiveness and contribution 

of individual directors. The Board and individual directors can direct more effort in those areas for achieving better performance 

of the Board and better effectiveness of individual directors. 

The NC has been tasked to evaluate the Board’s performance covering areas that includes, inter alia, size and composition of the 

Board, Board’s access into information, Board processes and accountability.

The NC shall also review the overall performance of the Board in terms of its role and responsibilities and the conduct of its affairs 

as a whole.

For the evaluation process, the Directors will complete a board evaluation questionnaire which seeks to assess the effectiveness 

of the Board and the Board Committees. The results are then collated by the Company Secretary who will submit to the 

Chairman of the NC in the form of a report. The report will be discussed during the NC meeting with a view to implementing 

recommendations to further enhance the effectiveness of the Board and/or the Board Committees.

The contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board is assessed individually and reviewed by the NC 

Chairman. The assessment criteria include, inter alia, Director’s attendance, commitment of time, candour, participation, 

knowledge and abilities, teamwork, and overall effectiveness. 

The NC, having reviewed the overall performance of the Board in terms of its role and responsibilities and the conduct of its affairs 

as a whole, and the individual Directors’ performance, is of the view that the performance of the Board, the Board Committees and 

each individual Director has been satisfactory in FY2013.

Where a Director has multiple board representations, the NC will evaluate whether or not the Director is able to carry out and has 

been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director of the Company taking into consideration time and resources allocated 

to the affairs of the Company.  The NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention has been given to the Group by the Directors 

and therefore, the Board has not capped the maximum number of board representations each Director is allowed to hold.

As the Company was only listed on 31 July 2013 and other than disclosed herein, there was no other activity carried out by the NC.

Access to Information

Principle 6: In order to fulfil their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, adequate and timely 
information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make informed decisions to discharge 
their duties and responsibilities.

All Directors are furnished on an on-going basis with complete, adequate and timely information concerning the Company to 

enable them to be fully cognisant of the decisions and actions of the Company’s Management. Information provided to the Board 

includes board papers, copies of disclosure documents, budgets, forecasts and internal financial statements. The Board has 

unrestricted access to the Company’s records and information.
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The Board has separate and independent access to Management and the Company Secretary at all times. Management is available 

to provide explanatory information in the form of briefings to the Directors or formal presentations in attendance at Board 

meetings, or such information can also be provided by external consultants engaged on specific projects.

The Company Secretary or his/her representative attends all Board meetings and meetings of the Board Committees of 

the Company and ensure that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. 

The Company Secretary also ensures that good information flows within the Board and its Board Committees and between 

Management and Independent Directors. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a 

whole. 

Each Director has the right to seek independent legal and other professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense, 

concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations or undertakings in order to fulfil their duties and responsibilities as Directors.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing 
the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

To effect the best corporate governance, the Company has established a RC. The RC comprises three members, all of whom are 

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Sin Boon Ann Chairman Lead Independent and Non-Executive Director

Abderahmane Fodil Member Independent and Non-Executive Director

Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan Member Independent and Non-Executive Director

The RC recommends to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and key management personnel, and determines 

specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director as well as for key management personnel. The recommendations will 

be submitted for endorsement by the Board.

All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses and benefits in kind, will 

be covered by the RC. The RC will also review annually the remuneration of employees related to the Directors and substantial 

shareholders to ensure that their remuneration packages are in line with the staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate 

with their respective job scopes and level of responsibilities. The RC will also review and approve any bonuses, pay increases 

and/or promotions for these employees. Each RC member will abstain from participating in the deliberations of and voting on any 

resolution in respect of his remuneration package or that of employees related to him.

The RC is responsible for the following:

(a) to recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and key management personnel, and to 

determine specific remuneration packages for each executive Director and the CEO (or executive of equivalent rank);
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(b) in the case of service contracts, to consider what compensation commitments the Directors’ or key management 

personnel’ contracts of service, if any, would entail in the event of early termination with a view to be fair and avoid 

rewarding poor performance; and

(c) in respect of such long-term incentive schemes (if any) including share schemes as may be implemented, to consider 

whether directors should be eligible for benefits under such long-term incentive schemes.

The RC may from time to time, where necessary or required, seek advice from external consultants in framing the remuneration 

policy and determining the level and mix of remuneration for Directors and Management, so that the Group remains competitive in 

this regard. During the financial year, the Company engaged an independent consultant firm, Freshwater Advisers, for professional 

advice on the bonus of the CEO to ensure that it is competitive and aligned to the market bonus benchmark. The remuneration 

paid to the independent consultant firm was S$10,000 per quarter. The Company does not have any relationship with the 

consultant which would affect its independence and objectivity.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 8: The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of the 
company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide good stewardship of the 
company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the company. However, companies should avoid paying 
more than is necessary for this purpose.

In setting remuneration packages, the RC will take into consideration the pay and employment conditions within the industry and 

in comparable companies. The RC also seeks to ensure that the structure of remuneration packages for the Executive Chairman 

and key management personnel are appropriate in linking rewards with performance and that is aligned with the interests of 

shareholders and promote the long-term success of the Group. The remuneration of the Non-Executive Director and Independent 

Directors is also reviewed by the RC to ensure that the remuneration is commensurate with the contribution and responsibilities 

of the Non-Executive Director and Independent Directors. 

The Company has entered into a service agreement with the Executive Chairman, Mr Dan Broström, commencing on 1 January 

2013.  The service agreements with the CEO, Mr Måns Lidgren, the Chief Operating Officer, Mr Kristofer Skantze, the Chief Financial 

Officer, Mr Åke Knutsson and Chief Technology Officer, Mrs Lina Berntsen, commenced on 1 August 2013, 30 May 2013, 1 June 

2013 and 1 August 2013 respectively.  

The service agreements are for an initial period of three years with automatic renewal annually for such annual period thereafter 

unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Company and the executive or terminated in accordance with the terms of the 

Service Agreements. There is no service contract with the Non-Executive Director, or the Independent Directors, and the terms of 

their appointment is not fixed.

The Company will submit the quantum of Directors’ fees of each financial year to the shareholders for approval at each AGM. 
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Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 9: Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, 
and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relation to 
its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key 
management personnel, and performance.

The breakdown of the remuneration of the Directors and CEO of the Company for FY2013 is as follows:

Name of Director/CEO

Remuneration 

S$
Salary 

%

Benefits 

%

Bonus 

%

Directors’ fee 

% *

Total

%

Dan Broström 246,932 75 5 20 100

Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren 36,767 100 100

Muhammad Sameer 

   Yousuf Khan

36,055 100 100

Abderahmane Fodil 30,904 100 100

Sin Boon Ann 38,630 100 100

Bernt Eivind Østhus 21,644 100 100

Måns Lidgren 2,135,910 16 16 68 – 100

*  Shareholders’ approval will be sought for the proposed Directors’ Fee at the forthcoming AGM.  

In addition, an aggregate of 375,000 options were granted under the Rex International Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) to 

each of the three Independent Directors, Mr Sin Boon Ann, Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan and Mr Abderahmane Fodil on 29 

November 2013, details of which can be found on page 59 of this report.  

Key Management Personnel’s Remuneration  

The breakdown showing the level and mix of the summary compensation table for the top five key management personnel (who 

are not Directors or the CEO) of the Group for FY2013 is set out below:

Name 

Salary 

%

Benefits 

%

Bonus 

%

Total

%

Below S$250,000

Kristofer Skantze 53% 47% – 100%

Åke Knutsson 100% – – 100%

Rolf Lethenström 100% – – 100%

Lina Berntsen 100% – – 100%

Mok Lai Siong 100% – – 100%

The annual aggregate remuneration paid to the top five key management personnel of the Company (excluding the CEO) for the 

FY2013 was S$413,865. 
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There are no termination, retirement and post-employment benefits granted to Directors, the CEO or the top five key management 

personnel. 

No employee of the Company and any of its principal subsidiaries was an immediate family member of a Director and/or the CEO 

whose remuneration exceeded S$50,000 during FY2013. 

Rex International Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

The Company has an ESOS which was approved and adopted by the members of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting 

on 24 June 2013. The ESOS is designed to reward valuable and outstanding employees or Non-Executive Directors (including 

Independent Directors), and incentivising them to continue contributing to the long-term growth and success of the Group.

The ESOS allows for participation by employees or Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Directors) of the Group 

who have attained the age of 21 years and above on or before the date of grant of the option, provided that none of them is a 

discharged bankrupt. Controlling shareholders and their associates will not be eligible to participate in the ESOS.

The ESOS is administered by the RC in consultation with the CEO. The total number of new shares over which options may be 

granted pursuant to the ESOS, when added to the number of shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under 

the ESOS and all awards granted under any other share option, share incentive, performance share or restricted share plan 

implemented by the Company and for the time being in force, shall not exceed 15% of the number of all issued Shares of the 

Company (excluding treasury shares), on the day preceding the date of the relevant grant.

Other salient information regarding the ESOS is set out below:

Exercise price of options

The exercise price of options shall be determined at the discretion of the RC on the date which the options are granted and may 

be set at:

• a price equal to the average of the last dealt prices for the Company’s shares on the Catalist of the SGX-ST over the five 

consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date on which the options are granted, as determined by the RC by 

reference to the daily official list or any other publication published by the SGX-ST, rounded to the nearest whole cent in the 

event of fractional prices (the “Market Price”); or

• a discount to the Market Price not exceeding 20% of the Market Price (or such other percentage or amount as may be 

determined by the RC) in respect of options granted at the time of grant, provided that shareholders in a general meeting 

have authorised, in a separate resolution, the making of offers and grants of options under the ESOS at a discount not 

exceeding the maximum discount as aforesaid.

For the options granted with exercise price set at Market Price, they can be exercised one year from the date of the grant and will 

expire five years from the date on which the options are granted.

For the options granted with exercise price set at a discount to Market Price, they can be exercised two years from the date of the 

grant and will expire five years from the date on which the options are granted.
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Duration of the ESOS

The ESOS shall be in force for a maximum of 10 years from the date on which the ESOS was adopted. Upon obtaining the approval 

of shareholders by ordinary resolution in a general meeting and of any relevant authorities which may be required, the ESOS may 

continue beyond 10 years from the date it was adopted. 

At the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the ESOS on the unissued ordinary shares of the Company are 

as follows:

Date of 
grant of 
options

Exercise 
price of 
options

Options 
outstanding 
at 1 Jan 
2013

Options 
granted

Options 
exercised

Options 
forfeited/
expired

Options 
outstanding 
as at 31 Dec 
2013

Number 
of option 
holders as 
at 31 Dec 
2013

Exercise 
period

29 Nov 2013 S$0.65(1) – 2,125,000 – – 2,125,000 10 29 Nov 2014 – 

28 Nov 2018

29 Nov 2013 S$0.52(2) – 1,062,500 – – 1,062,500 10 29 Nov 2015 – 

28 Nov 2018

– 3,187,500 – – 3,187,500

Notes:

(1) Market Price

(2) 20% discount to the Market Price
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Details of options granted to directors and key management personnel of the Company under the ESOS are as follows:

Name of director/key 
management personnel

Options granted for 
financial year ended  
31 Dec 2013

Aggregate options 
granted since 
commencement of 
ESOS to  
31 Dec 2013

Aggregate options 
exercised since 
commencement of 
ESOS to 
 31 Dec 2013

Aggregate options 
outstanding as at  
31 Dec 2013

Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Abderahmane Fodil 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Sin Boon Ann 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Kristofer Skantze 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Åke Knutsson 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Rolf Lethenström 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Mok Lai Siong 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Per Lind 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

3,000,000 3,000,000 – 3,000,000

*  Comprising 250,000 options with exercise price set at Market Price and 125,000 options with exercise price set at a 20% 

discount to Market Price. 

The options granted by the Company do not entitle the holders of the options, by virtue of such holding, to any rights to 

participate in any share issue of any other company.

As at 31 December 2013, all options granted have yet to be exercised. Further details on the ESOS were set out in the Company’s 

Offer Document dated 22 July 2013.

Rex International Performance Share Plan

The Company has a performance share plan under the Rex International Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”) which was adopted by 

the Company on 24 June 2013. The objective of the Plan is to promote higher performance goals and recognise the achievements 

of employees or Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Directors) (“Participants”) by motivating and aligning their 

interests to the Group by working towards pre-determined goals.

The Plan contemplates the award of fully-paid Shares, free of charge, (“Awards”) to Participants after certain pre-determined 

benchmarks have been met.  Awards granted under the Plan may be time-based or performance-related.  Performance targets set 

are based on short- to medium-term corporate objectives including market competitiveness, quality of returns, business growth 

and productivity growth.

No minimum vesting periods are prescribed under the Plan for Awards and the length of the vesting period in respect of each 

Award will be determined on a case-by-case basis by the RC.
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As at 31 December 2013, no Awards have been granted under the Plan.  Further details on the Plan were set out in the Company’s 

Offer Document dated 22 July 2013.

The remuneration packages for the Executive Chairman take into account the performance of the Group and the individual. The 

remuneration of the Executive Chairman includes a fixed salary and a variable performance related bonus, which is designed to 

align the interests of the Executive Chairman with those of shareholders. 

The Independent and Non-Executive Directors receive Directors’ fees based on their responsibilities, effort and time spent. The 

Directors’ fees are recommended by the RC and endorsed by the Board for approval by the shareholders of the Company at the 

Annual General Meeting. 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position 
and prospects.

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and is mindful of its obligations to furnish timely information and to ensure full 

disclosure of material information to shareholders in compliance with statutory requirements and the Catalist Rules of the SGX-ST.

Price sensitive information will be publicly released either before the Company meets with any group of investors or analysts or 

simultaneously with such meetings. Financial results and annual reports will be announced or issued within legally prescribed 

periods.

Management provides the Board with updates covering operational performance, financial results, marketing and business 

development and other relevant information on a regular basis as the Board may require from time to time, enabling the Board to 

make a balanced and informed assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospect. 

The Board also acknowledges its responsibility in relation to the preparation of the financial statements of the Group. The Board 

ensures that the preparation of the financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable 

accounting standards. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast 

significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is 

set out in the “Independent Auditors’ Report” section on pages 76 and 77 of this annual report.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 11: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management maintains a sound 
system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interest and the company’s assets, and should 
determine the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objective.

The Board with the assistance from the AC and the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) is responsible for risk governance and 

ensuring that Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ 

interests and the Company’s assets. The Board appreciates that risk management is an on-going process in which Management 

continually participates to evaluate, monitor and report to the Board and AC on significant risks. The RMC, which was formed in 

October 2013, consists of the following members: Mr Måns Lidgren (CEO), Mr Kristofer Skantze (COO) and Mr Rolf Lethenström (CFO 

Singapore).

During FY2013, the Company engaged an independent third party, KPMG Services Pte. Ltd (“KPMG”) to develop and establish a 

Board Assurance Framework (“BAF”). The BAF, which includes an enterprise risk management framework, was utilised by the 

Company to identify and manage the significant and material risks it faces, the potential impact and likelihood of those risks 

occurring, the control effectiveness and action plans being taken to mitigate those risks. The risks identified include strategic, 

financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks. The Company has also defined and documented clear roles 

and responsibilities for the Board and Management in risk mitigation, monitoring and reporting.

The Company has established risk appetite statements with tolerance limits to monitor shifts in its significant risks and to 

proactively manage them within acceptable levels. These appetite statements have been reviewed and approved by the Board and 

will be monitored on a quarterly basis.

The Company has appointed an independent third party, Ernst and Young Advisory Pte Ltd (“EY”) to perform internal audit reviews 

and will highlight all significant matters to Management and the AC.

Based on the work performed by independent external third parties, Management representations and Board inquiries and 

discussions, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the Company’s risk management and internal 

controls systems are adequate and effective in addressing the financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks 

of the Group for FY2013. The Board has also received assurance from the CEO and the CFO that the financial records have been 

properly maintained, give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances and that the Group’s risk management and 

internal control systems are effective.

The AC is responsible for making the necessary recommendations to the Board regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

risk management and internal control systems of the Company. In this regard, the AC is assisted by the RMC. 
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Audit Committee

Principle 12: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference, which clearly set out its 
authority and duties.

The Company has established the AC comprising the following three members, all of whom are Independent and Non-Executive 

Directors: 

Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan Chairman Independent and Non-Executive Director 

Abderahmane Fodil Member Independent and Non-Executive Director

Sin Boon Ann Member Lead Independent and Non-Executive Director

All the members of the AC have had many years of experience in senior management positions in different sectors. The Board is of 

the view that the members of the AC have sufficient management and/or financial expertise and experience to discharge the AC’s 

functions. The AC functions under written terms of reference, which set out its responsibilities as follows: 

i. assisting the Board of Directors in the discharge of its responsibilities on financial reporting matters;

ii. reviewing, with the Company’s internal and external auditors, the audit plans, scope of work, their evaluation of the system 

of internal accounting controls, their management letter and the Management’s response, and results of the audits 

compiled by the internal and external auditors;

iii. reviewing the quarterly financial statements and results announcements before submission to the Board of Directors for 

approval, focusing in particular, on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments 

resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance with financial reporting standards as well as 

compliance with the Catalist Rules and any other statutory/regulatory requirements; 

iv. reviewing the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group‘s internal control and procedures, including accounting and 

financial controls and procedures and ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and the 

Management, reviewing the assistance given by the Management to the auditors, and discuss problems and concerns, if 

any, arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of 

the Management where necessary);

v. reviewing the scope and results of the external audit, and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors; 

vi. reviewing and discussing with the external auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of 

any relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results or 

financial position, and the Management’s response;

vii. making recommendations to the Board of Directors on the proposals to the Shareholders on the appointment, re-

appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the 

external auditors;
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viii. reviewing significant financial reporting issues and judgements with the chief financial officer and the external auditors 

so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the 

Group’s financial performance before their submission to the Board of Directors;

ix. reviewing and reporting to the Board of Directors at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s material 

internal controls including financial, operation, compliance and information technology controls via reviews carried out by 

the internal auditors;

x. reviewing and approving transactions falling within the scope of Chapters 9 and 10 of the Catalist Rules (if any);

xi. reviewing any potential conflicts of interest;

xii. reviewing and approving all hedging policies and instruments (if any) to be implemented by the Group;

xiii. undertaking such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board of Directors and report to the Board of 

Directors its findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;

xiv. reviewing and establishing procedures for receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Group, inter 
alia, criminal offences involving the Group or its employees, questionable accounting, auditing, business, safety or other 

matters that impact negatively on the Group; and

xv. generally undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Catalist Rules, and by such 

amendments made thereto from time to time.

In line with the terms of reference of the AC, the following activities were carried out by the AC during FY2013 in the discharge of 

its functions and duties including the deliberation and review of: 

• the unaudited quarterly financial results of the Group and announcements prior to submission to the Board for approval 

and release on the SGXNET; 

• the internal and external audit plans in terms of their scope of audit prior to their commencement of their annual audit;

• the external auditors’ report in relation to audit and accounting issues arising from the audit.

• the system of risk management and internal controls;

• the full year financial results of the Group and related announcements prior to submission to the Board of Directors for 

consideration and approval; 

• the external audit and internal audit fees for the FY2013 and recommendation to the Board for approval;

• the independence and re-appointment of the external auditors and recommendation to the Board for approval; and

• interested person transactions falling within scope of Chapters 9 and 10 of the Catalist Rules and any potential conflicts of 

interests. 
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Apart from the duties listed above, the AC shall commission and review the findings of internal investigations into matters where 

there is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore law, rule or regulation 

which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results and/or financial position. Each member of the AC 

will abstain from participating in the deliberations of and voting in respect of matters in which he is interested. 

The AC has the power to conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within the AC’s terms of reference. The AC has full 

access to and co-operation of the Management and has full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its 

meetings, and has been given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions.

The AC is authorised to obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary in the discharge of its responsibilities. Such 

expenses are to be borne by the Company.

The AC will meet with the external auditors without the presence of the Management at least once a year, and this has been done 

in FY2013.  The AC also periodically receives updates on changes in accounting standards and treatment prepared by external 

auditors and circulated to members of AC. 

The Company confirms that it has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the Catalist Rules in engaging KPMG LLP, registered with 

the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority, Singapore, as the external auditors of the Company and local subsidiary. Other 

foreign subsidiaries are registered BVI companies that have no operational activities in FY2013. The AC reviews the scope and 

results of the external audit, and the independence of the external auditors annually. The AC, having reviewed the range and value 

of non-audit services performed by the external auditors, KPMG LLP, was satisfied that the nature and extent of such services 

has not prejudiced the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. Therefore, the AC recommends the re-appointment 

of KPMG LLP as external auditors at the forthcoming AGM. There is no disagreement between the Board and AC regarding the 

selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditors. During the financial year under review, the Company has 

incurred an aggregate of approximately US$192,000 paid/payable to the external auditor for its audit services, and has incurred an 

aggregate of approximately US$377,000 paid/payable to the external auditors for its other non-audit professional services.

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing framework for employees of the Group to, in confidence, raise concerns about any 

improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters to the AC. The AC has ensured that arrangements are in place for 

such concerns to be raised and independently investigated, and for appropriate follow-up action to be taken. The details of the 

policy have been disseminated and made available to all employees concerned in the Company’s code of conduct. 

Internal Audit

Principle 13: The Company should establish an internal audit function that is adequately resourced and independent of the 
activities it audits.

The Company has appointed EY to undertake regular and detailed internal audit procedures, and to report its findings to the AC 

accordingly.

The Board recognises that it is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ 

investment and the Group’s business and assets. The internal auditors report primarily to the AC and administratively to the CEO. 

The internal audit plan is submitted to the AC for approval prior to commencement of the internal audit. The AC meets with the 

internal auditors without the presence of the Management at least once a year, and this has been done in FY2013. The internal 

auditors have unfettered access to all the Company’s documents, records, properties and personnel, including access to the AC.
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The primary functions of internal audit are to:

(a) assess if adequate systems of internal controls are in place to protect the funds and assets of the Group and to ensure 

control procedures are complied with;

(b) conduct regular in-depth audits of high-risk areas; and

(c) identify and recommend improvement to internal control procedures, where required.

The AC has reviewed the report submitted by EY on internal procedures, the external auditors’ report and the internal controls 

in place, and is satisfied that there are adequate internal controls in the Company. The AC will review on an annual basis the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function. 

The AC is satisfied that the internal audit function of the Group, which has been outsourced to EY, has been adequately resourced 

and has appropriate standing within the Group to perform its function effectively. 

The AC is also of the view that the outsourced internal audit function is staffed with persons with the relevant qualifications and 

experience, and adheres to professional standards including those promulgated by the relevant local or international recognised 

professional bodies. 

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Shareholder Rights

Principle 14: Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, protect and facilitate the 
exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and update governance arrangement.

The Company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably, and recognise, protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights 

and continually review and update such governance arrangement.

The Company is committed to making timely, full and accurate disclosure to shareholders and the public. All information on the 

Company’s new initiatives which would be likely to materially affect the price or value of the Company’s shares will be promptly 

disseminated via SGXNET to ensure fair communication with shareholders.

The Company’s Articles does not have the provision allowing a corporation which provides nominee or custodial services to 

appoint more than two proxies.
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Communication with Shareholders

Principle 15: Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to promote 
regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

In line with the continuous obligations of the Company pursuant to the Catalist Rules, the Board’s policy is that all shareholders be 

informed of all major developments that impact the Group. Information is disseminated to shareholders and investors on a timely 

basis through: 

(a) SGXNET announcements and news releases;

(b) Annual Report and Notice of AGM issued to all shareholders; 

(c) Press releases on major developments of the Group;

(d) Company’s AGM; and

(e) Company’s website at http://www.rexih.com at which shareholders can access information on the Group.

Management regularly receives visiting fund managers to provide them an insight to the Company’s business and developments, 

as well as to better understand and address their concerns.  In addition to the media and analyst briefings, the Company has 

taken part in various non-deal roadshows.  This allows the Board to understand shareholders’ views about the Company.

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy.  Nonetheless, the Management, after reviewing the performance of the 

Group in the relevant financial period, will make appropriate recommendations to the Board.  Any dividend declaration will be 

communicated to shareholders via an announcement through SGXNET. The Company does not propose any dividend payment as 

the Company did not have profits available for distribution for FY2013. 

Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

Principle 16: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of shareholders, and allow 
shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company.

The Company’s General Meetings (AGM and/or Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)) are the principal forums for dialogue 

with shareholders. The Company’s General Meetings will be attended by all Directors, including the Chairman of the Board. 

The Chairmen of the Board Committees are normally available at the meetings to answer any questions relating to the work of 

the Committees. The External Auditors shall also be present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries by the 

shareholders.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM/EGM to ensure a high level of accountability and to stay apprised of the Group’s 

strategy and goals. Shareholders are given the opportunity to raise questions and clarify any issues that they may have relating to 

the resolutions to be passed. Notice of the General Meetings will be advertised in newspapers and announced on SGXNET.
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The Company’s Articles allow a shareholder entitled to attend and vote to appoint not more than two proxies who need not be 

a shareholder of the Company, to attend and vote at the meetings. The Company’s Articles allow a shareholder who is unable to 

vote in person at any General Meeting the option to vote in absentia, including but not limited to voting by mail, electronic mail or 

facsimile. The Company ensures that there are separate resolutions at general meetings on each distinct issue. 

The proceeding of the general meeting will be properly recorded, including all comments or queries from shareholders relating to 

the agenda of the meeting and responses from the Board and Management. All minutes of general meetings will be opened for 

the inspection of shareholders within one month after the general meeting, upon request by any shareholder.

DEALING IN SECURITIES

In line with Rule 1204(19) of the Catalist Rules on dealings in securities, the Company has in place a policy prohibiting share 

dealings by Directors and employees of the Company during the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of the 

Company’s financial statements for each of the first three quarters and one month before the announcement of the Company’s 

full year financial statements, as the case may be, and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results or when 

in possession of price-sensitive information which is not available to the public. The Directors and employees of the Company 

are also discouraged from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations. This has been made known to the 

Directors, officers and staff of the Company and the Group. They are also reminded to observe the insider trading laws at all times 

even when dealing in securities within the permitted trading period.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS POLICY

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transaction with an interested person (as defined in the Catalist 

Rules) and has established procedures for the review and approval of all interested person transactions entered into by the Group. 

The AC has reviewed the rationale and terms of the Group’s interested person transactions and is of the view that the interested 

person transactions are on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of the shareholders.

Name of Interested Person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during the 
financial year under review (excluding 
transactions less than S$100,000.00 
and transactions conducted under 
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 
920 of the Catalist Rules)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted under 
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 
920 of the Catalist Rules (excluding 
transactions less than S$100,000)

Rex Technology Management Ltd US$325,000(1) NA

NA – Not applicable

Note:

(1) Rex Technology Management Ltd is an associate of Rex Commercial Ltd, a controlling shareholder which owns 

approximately 50.86% of the Company, therefore is an interested person pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The Company has a major contract with Rex Technology Management Ltd for the exclusive licence of Rex Virtual Drilling. Save for 

the aforementioned, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interest 

of the CEO, any Directors, or controlling shareholders which are either still subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 

December 2013 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year ended 31 December 2012.

UTILISATION OF INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (“IPO”) PROCEEDS

The Company had raised gross proceeds amounting to S$85.25 million from the IPO on the Catalist Board of the SGX-ST on 31 July 

2013.

The details of the utilisation of the net IPO proceeds as at the date of this report are as shown below:

Use of IPO proceeds

Amount
allocated

S$’000

Amount
deployed

S$’000

Amount
utilised
S$’000

Balance
S$’000

Investment in new oil and gas opportunities 15,690 – 11,160 4,530

Drilling in Middle East Concessions 12,383 – – 12,383

Drilling in Norwegian Licences 23,637 – 13,206 10,431

Repayment of loan to Rex Partners 2,354 – 2,354 –

General working capital 25,886 (1,704)(1) 4,068(2) 20,114

Listing expenses to be borne by the Company 5,300 1,704(1) 7,004 –

Total 85,250 – 37,792 47,458

Notes:

(1) S$1.70 million has been redeployed to listing expenses to be borne by our Company.

(2) S$4.07 million has been used for Singapore’s office staff cost and operational expenses, consulting and professional fees. 

The application of the IPO proceeds is in accordance with the intended use of proceeds from the IPO as disclosed to the 

shareholders of the Company in the Offer Document dated 22 July 2013. The Company will make periodic announcements on the 

use of the balance of the net proceeds from the IPO as and when the funds are materially disbursed.
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The Company had on 6 November 2013 completed a placement of 70 million new ordinary shares at an issue price of S$0.755 per 

share (the “Second Placement”), raising gross proceeds of S$52.85 million.

As at the date of this report, the status on the use of net proceeds from the Second Placement, after deducting placement 

expenses of S$1.98 million, in Singapore dollars is as follows:

Use of net proceeds from Second Placement 

Percentage
allocated

%

Amount
allocated

S$’000

Amount
utilised
S$’000

Balance
S$’000

Exploration and drilling activities in new opportunities 

in the Asia-Pacific region 35.1 17,856 – 17,856

Exploration and drilling activities in new opportunities 

in geographical regions including the Middle East, 

Norway and Western Europe 33.0 16,787 10,519 6,268

Invest in and expand the business in the oil services 

sector using well stimulation technology 31.9 16,228 12,400 3,828

Total 100.0 50,871 22,919 27,952

NON-SPONSORSHIP FEES

The amount of non-sponsor fees paid to the Company’s sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd., during FY2013 was 

S$3,793,924 for acting as the issue manager, sponsor and co-placement agent pursuant to the Company’s IPO.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
      

   

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for 

the financial year ended 31 December 2013. The consolidated financial statements have been presented on the basis described 

in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Dan Broström (Executive Chairman) Appointed on 11 January 2013

Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren Appointed on 1 May 2013

Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan Appointed on 26 June 2013

Abderahmane Fodil Appointed on 26 June 2013

Sin Boon Ann Appointed on 26 June 2013

The Company was incorporated on 11 January 2013 as Rex International Pte Ltd. The Company changed its name to Rex 

International Holding Limited, and was converted into a public company on 10 July 2013. The Company was admitted to the official 

list of the Catalist Board on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) on 31 July 2013.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year 

(including those held by their spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and 

in related corporations are as follows:

Holdings registered in the 

name of director

Holdings in which a director is 

deemed to have an interest

Name of director and corporation 

   in which interests are held

At date of 

appointment

At end

of the year

At date of 

appointment

At end

of the year

The Company

Ordinary shares

Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren – – 554,421,960 556,921,960

Dan Broström 1 – – –

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren is also deemed to have interests in 

all the related corporations of the Company.

There were no changes in any of the abovementioned interest in the Company between the end of the financial year and 

21 January 2014.
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Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, 

or one of whose object is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Except as disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements, since 11 January 2013, the date of incorporation, no director has 

received or become entitled to receive, a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the 

director, or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Employee Share Option Scheme (the “ESOS”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an Extraordinary 

General Meeting held on 24 June 2013. The ESOS is administered by the Company’s Remuneration Committee, comprising three 

directors, Sin Boon Ann, Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan and Abderahmane Fodil.

Other information regarding the ESOS is set out below:

• The exercise price of the options can be set at a discount to the Market Price(1) not exceeding 20% of the Market Price at 

the date on which the options are granted.

• For the options granted with exercise price set at Market Price, they can be exercised 1 year from the date of the grant and 

will expire 5 years from the date on which the options are granted.

• For the options granted with exercise price set at a discount to the Market Price, they can be exercised 2 years from the 

date of the grant and will expire 5 years from the date on which the options are granted.

(1) The Market Price is calculated based on the average of the last dealt prices for the Company’s shares on the Catalist of the 

SGX-ST over the 5 consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date on which the options are granted.

At the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the ESOS on the unissued ordinary shares of the Company, are 

as follows:

Date of 
grant of 
options

Exercise 
price 

per share

Options 
outstanding 

at 1 Jan
2013

Options 
granted

Options 
exercised

Options 
forfeited/ 

expired

Options 
outstanding 

at 31 Dec 
2013

Number 
of option 

holders
at 31 Dec 

2013
Exercise 

period

29 Nov 2013 S$0.65 – 2,125,000 – – 2,125,000 10 29 Nov 2014 – 

28 Nov 2018

29 Nov 2013 S$0.52 – 1,062,500 – – 1,062,500 10 29 Nov 2015 – 

28 Nov 2018

– 3,187,500 – – 3,187,500
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Except as disclosed above, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options granted by the 

Company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year.

Details of options granted to directors of the Company under the ESOS are as follows:

Name of director

Options granted 
for financial 

year ended 
31 Dec 2013

Aggregate 
options 

granted since 
commencement 

of ESOS to 
31 Dec 2013

Aggregate 
options 

exercised since 
commencement 

of ESOS to 
31 Dec 2013

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding 
as at 

31 Dec 2013

Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Abderahmane Fodil 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Sin Boon Ann 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

1,125,000 1,125,000 – 1,125,000

Other than those disclosed above, details of of options granted to key management personnel of the Company under the ESOS are 

as follows:

Name of key management personnel 

Options granted 
for financial 

year ended 
31 Dec 2013

Aggregate 
options 

granted since 
commencement 

of ESOS to 
31 Dec 2013

Aggregate 
options 

exercised since 
commencement 

of ESOS to 
31 Dec 2013

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding 
as at 

31 Dec 2013

Kristofer Skantze 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Åke Knutsson 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Rolf Lethenström 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Mok Lai Siong 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

Per Lind 375,000* 375,000 – 375,000

1,875,000 1,875,000 – 1,875,000

The options granted by the Company do not entitle the holders of the options, by virtue of such holding, to any rights to 

participate in any share issue of any other company.

* Comprising 250,000 options with exercise price set at Market Price and 125,000 options with exercise price set at a 20% 

discount to Market Price.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this report are:

• Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan (Chairman) Independent and Non-Executive director (Appointed on 26 June 2013)

• Sin Boon Ann Lead Independent and Non-Executive director (Appointed on 26 June 2013)

• Abderahmane Fodil Independent and Non-Executive director (Appointed on 26 June 2013)

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the SGX Listing Manual and the Code of 

Corporate Governance.

During the financial year, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with the 

Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their examination and their evaluation 

of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

• assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external auditors;

• quarterly financial information and annual financial statements of Rex International Holding Limited and its subsidiaries 

(“the Group”) and the Company prior to their submission to the directors of the Company for adoption; and

• interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to Management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It 

has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also 

recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the 

Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General 

Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company.

In appointing our auditors for the Company and subsidiaries, the Board of Directors have complied with Rules 712, 715 and 716 of 

the SGX Listing Manual.
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AUDITORS

On 8 March 2013, KPMG LLP were appointed as auditors of the Company.

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Dan Broström

Director

Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan

Director

10 March 2014
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In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 78 to 121 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 

of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2013, and changes in equity of the Group and the Company, and the 

results and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Dan Broström

Director

Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan

Director

10 March 2014
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Rex International Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2013, the 

statement of changes in equity of the Group and the Company, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and the 

consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory information, as set out on pages 78 to 121.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for 

devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets 

are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 

recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain 

accountability of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of 

changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2013 

and the changes in equity of the Group and of the Company, the results and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that 

date.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
MEMBERS OF THE COMPANY
REX INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 

incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore

10 March 2014
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Group Company

2013 2012 2013

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS

Plant and equipment 5 81 – 81

Subsidiaries 6 – – 37,303

Jointly controlled entities 7 42,700 7,355 –

Available-for-sale investment 8 39,717 – 40,525

Non-current assets 82,498 7,355 77,909

Other receivables 9 5,069 – 5,189

Quoted investments 10 7,520 – 7,520

Cash and cash equivalents 11 82,271 – 82,271

Current assets 94,860 – 94,980

Total assets 177,358 7,355 172,889

EQUITY 

Share capital 12 179,519 1 179,519

Reserves 13 5,229 4,538 565

Accumulated (losses)/profits (7,919) 589 (7,724)

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 176,829 5,128 172,360

Other payables 15 529 2,227 529

Current liabilities 529 2,227 529

Total equity and liabilities 177,358 7,355 172,889

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013
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Group

2013 2012

Note US$’000 US$’000

Revenue – –

Administration expenses (5,268) (529)

Other expenses (2,520) –

Results from operating activities (7,788) (529)

Finance income 130 –

Finance costs (259) –

Net finance costs 16 (129) –

Gain on disposal of jointly controlled operation and jointly controlled entity (net) 7, 8 574 –

Gain on dilution of interest in a jointly controlled entity 7 3,999 –

Share of loss of associate and jointly controlled entities, net of tax (5,164) (653)

Loss before tax 17 (8,508) (1,182)

Tax expense 18 – –

Loss for the year, after tax (8,508) (1,182)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Foreign currency translation differences from foreign operations (40) –

Total comprehensive loss for the year (8,548) (1,182)

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share (cents) 19 (1.20) –

Diluted loss per share (cents) 19 (1.20) –

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
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Share

capital

Merger

reserve

Capital

reserve

Share 

option

reserve

Translation 

reserve

Accumulated

(losses)/

profits

Total

equity

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

GROUP

At 1 January 2012 1 4,129 – – – 1,771 5,901

Total comprehensive loss for 

the year

Loss for the year representing 

total comprehensive loss for 

the year – – – – – (1,182) (1,182)

Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in 

equity 

Loans forgiven by equity 

holders representing 

total transactions with 

shareholders – – 409 – – – 409

At 31 December 2012 1 4,129 409 – – 589 5,128

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
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Share

capital

Merger

reserve

Capital

reserve

Share 

option

reserve

Translation 

reserve

Accumulated

(losses)/

profits

Total

equity

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

GROUP

At 1 January 2013 1 4,129 409 – – 589 5,128

Total comprehensive loss for 

the year

Loss for the year – – – – – (8,508) (8,508)

Other comprehensive loss 

Foreign currency translation 

differences – – – – (40) – (40)

Total comprehensive loss for 

the year – – – – (40) (8,508) (8,548)

Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in 

equity 

Contributions by and 

distributions to owners

Issuance of shares 12 186,409 – 9 – – – 186,418

Listing expenses 12 (6,891) – – – – – (6,891)

Share-based payment 

transactions – employee 

share option scheme 14 – – – 60 – – 60

Loans forgiven by equity 

holders 13 – – 662 – – – 662

Total transactions with 

owners 179,518 – 671 60 – – 180,249

At 31 December 2013 179,519 4,129 1,080 60 (40) (7,919) 176,829

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Share

capital

Merger

reserve

Capital

reserve

Share 

option

reserve

Accumulated

(losses)/

profits 

Total

equity

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

COMPANY

At date of incorporation 1 – – – – 1

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss for the year, representing total 

comprehensive loss for the year – – – – (7,724) (7,724)

Transactions with owners, recognised 

directly in equity 

Contributions by and distributions to 

owners

Issuance of shares 12 186,409 – 9 – – 186,418

Listing expenses 12 (6,891) – – – – (6,891)

Loans forgiven by equity holders – – 496 – – 496

Share-based payment transactions 14 – – – 60 – 60

Total transactions with shareholders 179,518 – 505 60 – 180,083

At 31 December 2013 179,519 – 505 60 (7,724) 172,360

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
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Group

2013 2012

Note US$’000 US$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the year (8,508) (1,182)

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation 10 –

Net finance costs 129 –

Share of loss of associate and jointly controlled entities, net of tax 5,164 653

Gain on dilution of interest in jointly controlled entity 7 (3,999) –

Gain on disposal of jointly controlled operation and jointly controlled entity (net) 7, 8 (574) –

Equity settled share-based payment transactions 60 –

Change in fair value of quoted investments 40

(7,678) (529)

Changes in working capital: 

- Other receivables (465) –

- Other payables 204 529

Net cash used in operating activities (7,939) –

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Interest received 26 –

Purchase of available-for-sale investment 8 (7,000)

Acquisitions of jointly-controlled entities 7 (19,000) –

Investments in jointly-controlled entities (4,870)

Purchase of quoted investments 10 (7,560) –

Purchase of plant and equipment 5 (91) –

Exploration and evaluation expenditure (2,839) –

Net cash used in investing activities (41,334) –

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Interest paid (29) –

Proceeds from issuance of shares 139,933 –

Listing expenses (6,891) –

Repayment of loan to a related corporation (1,901) –

Cash contribution from shareholders 662 –

Net cash from financing activities 131,774 –

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 82,501 –

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year – –

Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currency (230)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 82,271 –

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
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Significant non-cash transactions:

Acquisition of investments in available-for-sale and jointly controlled entities in 2013:

(i) On 21 March 2013, the Company entered into a share purchase offer and acceptance agreement to purchase 5,802,909 

shares in Fram Exploration ASA (“FRAM”) for a consideration of US$33,525,000 which was settled through the issuance of 

the Company’s ordinary shares.

On 26 November 2013, as part of the Group’s plans to restructure its investment in FRAM, the Group acquired an additional 

interest of 3.8% in FRAM for a total cash consideration of US$7,000,000 and disposed the Group’s 20% interest in a jointly 

controlled operation. Upon completion of the restructuring, the Group holds a 27.87% interest in FRAM. Please refer to Note 

8 for details.

(ii) On 18 October 2013, the Group acquired an interest of 64.17% in a jointly controlled entity, Caribbean Rex Ltd (“Caribbean 

Rex Group”), for a total consideration of US$12,005,000, comprising US$9,000,000 in cash and US$3,005,000 in the 

Company’s own shares. Please refer to Note 7 for details.

(iii) On 23 October 2013, the Group acquired an interest of 66.67% in a jointly controlled entity, Rexonic AG (“Rexonic Group”), 

for a total consideration of US$19,945,000, comprising US$10,000,000 in cash and US$9,945,000 in the Company’s own 

shares. Please refer to Note 7 for details.

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 10 March 2014.

1 DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

Rex International Holding Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in Singapore on 11 January 2013 and has its 

registered office at 80 Robinson Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898.

On 10 July 2013, the Company converted into a public company limited by shares. The Company was listed on the Catalist 

Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 31 July 2013.

The principal activities of the Company are those relating to investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries 

are set out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

The financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2013 comprise the Company and its 

subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”) and the Group’s interest in associate 

and jointly controlled entities.

2 RESTRUCTURING EXERCISE

During the financial year, Rex International Holding Limited undertook a group restructuring exercise (the “Restructuring 

Exercise”) with Rex Commercial Ltd and Schroders and Co. Bank AG.

(i) Acquisition of a 100% equity interest in Rex Oil & Gas Limited
Pursuant to a group restructuring, Rex International Holding Limited, (BVI), on 13 March 2013, entered into a sale and 

purchase agreement with the shareholders of Rex Oil & Gas Limited to acquire the entire issued share capital of Rex Oil 

& Gas Limited, whereby Rex Oil & Gas Limited held a 65% equity interest in a jointly controlled entity, Lime Petroleum PLC 

(“Lime Group”). The purchase consideration was US$l. Upon completion of the restructuring exercise, Rex Oil & Gas Limited 

became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rex International Holding Limited, (BVI).

(ii) Acquisition of a 100% equity interest in Rex International Holding Limited, (BVI)
Rex International Investments Pte Ltd was incorporated on 13 March 2013 and on 19 March 2013, it entered into a share 

swap agreement with the shareholders of Rex International Holding Limited, (BVI) to acquire the entire issued share capital 

of Rex International Holding Limited, (BVI). As consideration for the acquisition, Rex International Investments Pte Ltd issued 

49,999 ordinary shares in the capital of Rex International Investments Pte Ltd to the shareholders of Rex International 

Holding Limited, (BVI). Upon completion of the restructuring exercise, Rex International Holding Limited, (BVI) became a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of Rex International Investments Pte. Ltd.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 RESTRUCTURING EXERCISE (CONT’D)

(iii) Acquisition of a 100% equity interest in Rex International Investments Pte. Ltd. by the Company
On 20 March 2013, the Company entered into a share swap agreement with the shareholders of Rex International 

Investments Pte. Ltd. to acquire the entire issued share capital of Rex International Investments Pte. Ltd. As consideration 

for the acquisition, the Company issued 638,999,999 ordinary shares in the capital of the Company to the shareholders of 

Rex International Investments Pte. Ltd. Upon completion of the restructuring exercise, Rex International Investments Pte. 

Ltd. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

(iv) Investment in FRAM
On 21 March 2013, the Company entered into a share purchase offer and acceptance agreement to purchase 5,802,909 

shares in FRAM for a consideration of US$33,525,000 which was settled through the issuance of 101,792,531 shares in 

the Company.

(v) Pre-Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) Convertible Loan
Pursuant to the IPO of the Company, the Convertible Loans of S$35,126,000 were converted into 87,890,625 ordinary 

shares of the Company.

(vi) Shareholding in the Company pursuant to the Group Restructuring
The table below sets out the number of shares issued prior to the IPO of the Company.

Number of 

shares

Note ’000

Pursuant to the acquisition of Rex International Investments Pte. Ltd. 638,999

Pursuant to the acquisition of FRAM 101,793

Conversion of convertible loans into the shares of the Company by  Pre-IPO investors 87,891

12 828,683

The Restructuring Exercise is considered by Management to be a transfer of equity interests under common control and 

has been accounted for in a manner similar to the pooling-of-interests method. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities 

of these entities have been included in the financial statements at their historical carrying amounts. Although the 

Restructuring Exercise was completed on 26 April 2013, the financial statements present the financial position, results of 

operations and cash flows, as if the Restructuring Exercise had occurred as of the beginning of the earliest year presented 

to reflect the economic substance of the combined enterprise.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”).

3.2 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 

below.

3.3 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The financial statements are presented in United States (“US”) dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 

financial information presented in US dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

3.4 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires Management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

(i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year are discussed below.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. 

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and available-for-sale investments are tested for impairment when 

there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

The Group has considered the prospect or the feasibility of each investment acquired and concluded that no risk of 

impairment trigger existed at the balance sheet date.

Should the assumptions on impairment trigger not be met, an impairment trigger may be present and may warrant an 

impairment assessment in the future. In the event value-in-use calculations are undertaken to determine the recoverable 

amounts of the investments, Management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-

generating unit (“CGU”) and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows, 

which represents an estimation uncertainty risk in the future.

(ii) Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in Note 8 - Classification of available for sale investment.

Financial Statements
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the period presented in these financial 

statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

4.1 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(i) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with FRS 103 Business Combination 

as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control is the power to govern 

the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group 

takes into consideration potential voting rights that are currently exercisable.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 

incurs in connection with a business combination, are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and included in the consideration 

transferred. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for 

within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or 

loss.

For non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 

the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation, the Group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to 

measure them at fair value, or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests are measured at acquisition-

date fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another standard.

(ii) Acquisitions from entities under common control
Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the shareholder that 

controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative year 

presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose comparatives are restated. The 

assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group controlling 

shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the same 

components within Group equity and any gain/loss arising is recognised directly in equity.

(iii) Loss of control
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests 

and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising from the loss of control is 

recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured 

at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an 

available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Statements



Annual Report 2013 89

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.1 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONT’D)

(iv) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 

financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the 

Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even 

if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

(v) Investments in associate and jointly controlled entities (equity-accounted investees)
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the 

financial and operating policies of these entities. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 

20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity. Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the 

Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and 

operating decisions.

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method (equity-accounted 

investees) and are recognised initially at cost. The cost of the investments includes transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

of the equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies of the equity-accounted investees 

with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant 

influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the 

investment, together with any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further 

losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation to fund the investee’s operations or has made 

payments on behalf of the investee.

(vi) Jointly controlled operation
A jointly controlled operation is a joint venture carried on by each venturer using its own assets in pursuit of the joint 

operation. The consolidated financial statements include the assets that the Group controls and the liabilities that it incurs 

in the course of pursuing the joint operation, and the expenses that the Group incurs and its share of the income that it 

earns from the joint operation.

(vii) Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and 

therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result. The adjustments to non-controlling interests arising from transactions 

that do not involve the loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.1 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONT’D)

(viii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 

are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-

accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised 

losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(ix) Accounting for subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities in the separate financial 
statements
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are stated in the Company’s statement of financial 

position at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

4.2 FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the 

reporting period are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or 

loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, 

adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the 

exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated 

to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a 

foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences 

arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, 

are translated to US dollars at exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The income and expenses of foreign 

operations are translated to US dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Goodwill and fair value 

adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation 

and are translated at the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.2 FOREIGN CURRENCIES (CONT’D)

Foreign operations (Cont’d)
Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency 

translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, 

then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When a 

foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount 

in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 

disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while 

retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the 

Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation 

while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to 

profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely to 

occur in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item that are considered 

to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented 

in the translation reserve in equity.

4.3 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Recognition and measurement
Items of plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 

components) of plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal 

with the carrying amount of plant and equipment, and is recognised net within other income in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it 

is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and its cost can be 

measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing 

of plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.3 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are 

assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is 

depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 

component of an item of plant and equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset. Leased assets 

are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will 

obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or in respect of 

internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Furniture and fittings 5 to 10 years

Office equipment 5 years

Office computers 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if 

appropriate.

4.4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of associates and jointly controlled entities and represents the excess of:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree,

over the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 

amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement
In respect of equity-accounted investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the 

investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms 

part of the carrying amount of the equity-accounted investee.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

(ii) Oil and gas expenditure – exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for oil and gas resources, the determination of technical feasibility 

and the assessment of the commercial viability of an identified resource. Costs incurred before the Group has obtained 

the legal rights to explore an area are recognised in profit or loss.

Exploration and evaluation costs are capitalised in respect of each area of interest for which the rights to tenure are 

current and where:

(i) the exploration and evaluation costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation 

of the area of interest; or alternatively, by its sale; or

(ii) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable 

assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant 

operations in, or in relation to, the areas of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets comprise, among others, costs that are directly attributable to: researching and 

analysing existing exploration data, gathering exploration data through topographical, geochemical and geophysical 

studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling, determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource, 

examining and testing extraction and treatment methods, surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements, 

compiling pre-feasibility and feasibility studies and/or gaining access to areas of interest including occupancy and 

relocation compensation and other directly attributable costs of exploration and appraisal including technical and 

administrative costs.

General and administrative costs are allocated to, and included in, the cost of exploration and evaluation asset only to the 

extent that those costs can be related directly to operational activities in the area of interest to which the exploration and 

evaluation asset relates. In all other cases, these costs are expensed as incurred.

Exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to development costs, a component of exploration and evaluation assets, 

when the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the resource are demonstrable and sanctioned by 

Management.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 

amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. Where a potential impairment 

is indicated, assessment is performed for each area of interest in conjunction with the group of operating assets 

(representing a cash-generating unit) to which the exploration and evaluation is attributable. To the extent that capitalised 

exploration and evaluation is not expected to be recovered, it is charged to profit or loss.

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision 

to abandon the area is made. When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are 

amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward 

cost in relation to that area of interest.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

(ii) Oil and gas expenditure – exploration and evaluation assets (Cont’d)
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are included in the 

cost of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of drilling facilities, equipment and building 

structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of the concession permits. Such costs 

have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted 

basis.

Any changes to the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining the costs of site 

restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and 

future legislation. Accordingly, the costs have been determined on the basis that the restoration will be completed within  

1 year of abandoning the concession site.

Concession rights are amortised to profit or loss on a units of production basis over the expected period of production.

4.5 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets 

(including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date 

that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 

transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is 

created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 

only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or designated as 

such since initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages 

such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s 

documented risk management or investment strategy. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as 

incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein, which takes 

into account any dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss comprise debt securities.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.5 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank balances and fixed deposits. Short term deposits include money 
market instruments with maturities of 3 months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk 
of change in their fair values are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments. For the purpose 
of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Group’s 
cash management are included in cash and cash equivalents.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not 
classified in any of the above categories of financial assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at 
fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. When an investment is derecognised, the gain or 
loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Where an investment in equity securities classified as available for sale does not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and other methods of determining fair value do not result in a reasonable estimate, the investment is measured at 
cost less impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise unquoted equity securities.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Group initially recognises subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All other financial liabilities are 
recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities 
are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise other payables.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.6 IMPAIRMENT

(i) Non-derivative financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at the end of each reporting period to 

determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence 

indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has a negative 

effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by 

a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications 

that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group, 

economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an 

investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of 

impairment. The Group considers a decline of 20% to be significant and a period of 9 months to be prolonged.

Loans and receivables
The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and collective level. All 

individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant receivables 

found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet 

identified. Loans and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping 

together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recoveries 

and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for Management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit 

conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between 

its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original effective 

interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables. 

Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When a subsequent event (e.g. repayment by a debtor) causes 

the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

For goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable 

amount is estimated each year at the same time. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or 

its related CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.6 IMPAIRMENT (CONT’D)

(ii) Non-financial assets (Cont’d)
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the 

purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of 

assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets 

or CGU. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which 

goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest 

level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 

allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU. Corporate 

assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the 

CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to 

reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts 

of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in 

prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 

impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an equity-accounted investment is not recognised separately, and 

therefore is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire amount of an equity-accounted investment is tested 

for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the equity-accounted investment may be impaired.

(iii) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 

recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.7 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 

separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to 

defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during 

which services are rendered by employees.

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 

is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a present legal 

or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can 

be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions
The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, 

with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the 

awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service 

and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an 

expense is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the 

vesting date.

4.8 LEASES
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

4.9 FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, including debt securities. Interest income is recognised as 

it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as either finance 

income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.10 TAX
Income tax expense comprises current tax. Current tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to 

a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax 

payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 

financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and

• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is 

probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 

based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 

assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax 

entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 

realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 

related tax benefit will be realised.

4.11 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 

dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the 

profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 

adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

4.12 SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 

components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEO (the chief operating 

decision maker) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for 

which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 

can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s 

headquarters), head office expenses, and tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 

intangible assets other than goodwill.

4.13 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT ADOPTED
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 

1 January 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those new standards, amendments to 

standards and interpretations that may have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Company 

in future periods and which the Group does not plan to early adopt are set out below.

Applicable for the Group’s 2014 financial statements
FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements, which changes the definition of control such that an investor controls an 

investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 

to affect those returns through its power with the investee. FRS 110 introduces a single control model with a series of 

indicators to assess control. FRS 110 also adds additional context, explanation and application guidance based on the 

principle of control.

FRS 111 Joint Arrangements, which establishes the principles for classification and accounting of joint arrangements. 

The adoption of this standard would require the Group to re-assess and classify its joint arrangements as either joint 

operations or joint ventures based on its rights and obligations arising from the joint arrangements. Under this standard, 

interests in joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method whilst interests in joint operations will be 

accounted for using the applicable FRSs relating to the underlying assets, liabilities, revenue and expense items arising 

from the joint operations.

The Group has re-evaluated its involvement with investees under the new control model the classification under joint 

arrangements and concluded that the change has no material impact to financial statements of the Group and prior period 

information in the Group’s 2014 financial statements.

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, which sets out the disclosures required to be made in respect of all 

forms of an entity’s interests in other entities, including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated 

structured entities. The adoption of this standard would result in more extensive disclosures being made in the Group’s 

financial statements in respect of its interests in other entities, as FRS 112 is primarily a disclosure standard, there will be 

no financial impact on the results and financial position of the Group and the Company. The Group is currently collating the 

information of the additional disclosures required.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Statements



Annual Report 2013 101

5 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture

and fittings

Office 

equipment

Office 

computers Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

GROUP AND COMPANY

COST

At 1 January 2013 / date of incorporation – – – –

Additions 8 16 67 91

At 31 December 2013 8 16 67 91

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSS

At 1 January 2013 / date of incorporation – – – –

Depreciation charge for the year 1 3 6 10

At 31 December 2013 1 3 6 10

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 1 January 2013 / date of incorporation – – – –

At 31 December 2013 7 13 61 81

6 SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Equity investments, at cost 793 –

Loan to a subsidiary, at cost (1) 36,510 –

37,303 –

(1) The loan to a subsidiary is unsecured and interest-free. The settlement of the loan is neither planned nor likely to occur in 

the foreseeable future. This loan is, in substance, a part of the Company’s net investment in the subsidiary.
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6 SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

The details of subsidiaries are as follows:

Names of subsidiaries Principal activities 

Country of 

incorporation

Effective equity interest held 

by the Group

2013 2012

% %

HELD BY THE COMPANY

Rex International Investments Pte Ltd (a) Investment holding Singapore 100 –

HELD BY SUBSIDIARY

Rex International Holding Ltd, (BVI) (b) Investment holding British Virgin Islands 100 100

Rex Middle East Ltd(c)

(formally known as Rex Oil & Gas Limited) 

Investment holding British Virgin Islands 100 100

Rex US Ltd (d) Investment holding British Virgin Islands 100 100

Rex US Ventures LLC (e) Oil and gas exploration United States of 

America

100 100

Rex South East Asia Ltd (f) Investment holding British Virgin Islands 100 –

Rex Caribbean Holding Ltd (g) Investment holding British Virgin Islands 100 –

(a) Incorporated on 13 March 2013. Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore.

(b) Incorporated on 24 September 2012. Not required to be audited under the laws in the country of incorporation.

(c) Incorporated on 24 September 2008. Not required to be audited under the laws in the country of incorporation.

(d) Incorporated on 24 September 2012. Not required to be audited under the laws in the country of incorporation.

(e) Incorporated on 25 October 2012. Not required to be audited under the laws in the country of incorporation.

(f) Incorporated on 19 March 2013. Not required to be audited under the laws in the country of incorporation.

(g) Incorporated on 9 August 2013. Not required to be audited under the laws in the country of incorporation.
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7 JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 44,653 6,237 – –

Share of post-acquisition (losses)/profits (1,953) 1,118 – –

42,700 7,355 – –

Details of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows:

Names of jointly controlled entity Principal activities

Country of 

incorporation

Effective equity interest held 

by the Group

2013 2012

% %

Lime Petroleum PLC (“Lime Group”) (a) (*) Oil and gas exploration Isle of Man 65 65

Loyz Rex Drilling 

Services LLC (“LRDS”)

Oil and gas exploration United States of 

America

– 49

HiRex Petroleum Sdn. Bhd. (“HIREX”) (b) Oil and gas exploration Malaysia 41(##)  –

Caribbean Rex Ltd  

(“Caribbean Rex Group”) (c) (*)

Oil and gas exploration Trinidad & Tobago 64.17 –

Rexonic AG 

(“Rexonic Group”)(d) (*)

Oil exploration 

technology

Switzerland 66.67 –

(a) Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLC, Isle of Man

(b) Incorporated on 21 March 2013. Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Malaysia

(c) Audited by KPMG, Trinidad & Tobago

(d) Audited by Rototen Treuhand AG, Switzerland

(*) Deemed to be a jointly controlled entity as the Group has joint control over the financial and operating policies of the entity

(##) During the year, the Group’s interest in HIREX has been diluted from 49% to 41%, resulting in a gain on dilution of 

US$3,999,000 that has been recognised in profit or loss. The Group has assessed that it continues to have joint 

control over HIREX as it continues to participate jointly in the strategic financial and operating decisions.

During the year, the Group disposed its 49% equity interest in LRDS for a consideration of US$4,500,000 by way of 

US$1,000,000 in cash and US$3,500,000 in ordinary shares of Loyz Energy Ltd. A gain of US$924,000 was recognised in 

profit or loss arising from the disposal.
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7 JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES (CONT’D)

During the year, the Group completed the following acquisitions:

Name of jointly 

controlled entity

Effective 

interest 

acquired Consideration paid

Fair value 

of net 

identifiable 

assets acquired 

and liabilities 

assumed

Goodwill 

recognised 

on 

acquisition

% US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Caribbean Rex Group 64.17 (i)  Shares of the Company 3,005 7,242# 4,763

(ii)  Cash consideration 9,000

Rexonic Group 66.67 (i)  Shares of the Company 9,945 14,852 5,093

(ii)  Cash consideration 10,000

31,950 22,094 9,856

# A claim was filed against the subsidiary of Caribbean Rex Group by a third party regarding the repayment of an 

unguaranteed capital of US$4,265,000 previously invested for the purpose of oil explorations in Trinidad and 

Tobago and entitlement to a share of revenue from the oil produced. No provision has been recognised on the 

claim at the date of acquisition as the Group has assessed that it is not probable for the claim to succeed.

Summarised financial information of the jointly controlled entities, not adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by 

the Group, are as follows:

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Exploration and evaluation assets 14,325 5,583

Non-current assets 53,127 12,873

Current assets 37,431 43,011

Total assets 104,883 61,467

Non-current liabilities (20,886) –

Current liabilities (9,327) (1,247)

Net assets 74,670 60,220

RESULTS

Income 1,394 1,134

Expenses (12,617) (3,079)

Tax credit 5,180 940

Loss for the year (6,043) (1,005)

In 2013, the Group did not receive any dividend from its investments in jointly controlled entities (2012: Nil).
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8 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Unquoted equity investment available for sale 39,717 – 40,525 –

On 21 March 2013, the Company entered into a share purchase offer and acceptance agreement to purchase 5,802,909 of 

shares in FRAM. The shares acquired constituted 24.06% of the total issued share capital of FRAM.

Subsequent to the initial acquisition, the Group entered into an agreement with the other shareholders of FRAM to 

restructure its interest in the US concessions through disposing its interest in a jointly controlled operation (Participation 
and Exploration Agreement with FRAM and Loyz Oil Pte Ltd), and acquiring an additional 3.8% interest in FRAM for a 

cash consideration of US$7,000,000. The exploration and evaluation expenditure of US$2,839,000 incurred on the US 

concessions was written off as part of the loss of US$350,000 recognised in profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group holds 27.87% equity interest in FRAM.

The Group has re-assessed its involvement in FRAM and concluded that it no longer has significant influence as it can no 

longer participate in FRAM’s financial and operating decisions. The Group ceased equity accounting for the results of FRAM 

from the point where significant influence was lost and reclassified the carrying value from investment in associate to 

available-for-sale investment.

9 OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Amounts due from related parties (i) (non-trade) – – 4,620 –

Deposits 158 – 158 –

Interest receivables 104 – 104 –

Prepayments 131 – 131 –

Consideration receivables (ii) 4,500 – – –

Other receivables 176 – 176 –

5,069 – 5,189 –

(i) Amounts due from related parties are unsecured and interest-free.

(ii) Relates to consideration receivable from Loyz Energy Ltd, comprising US$1,000,000 cash consideration and 

US$3,500,000 of ordinary shares in Loyz Energy Ltd as described in Note 7. On 7 February 2014, 12,260,217 

ordinary shares in Loyz Energy Ltd were issued to the Company.
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10 QUOTED INVESTMENTS

Group and Company

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Debt securities, at fair value through profit or loss 7,520 –

Debt securities classified at fair value through profit or loss of the Group and Company bear interest at fixed rates ranging 

from 2.95% to 4.88% (2012: Nil) per annum and mature between 1 to 4 years from the balance sheet date.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks and fair value information related to the investments are set out in Note 22.

11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group and Company

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 20,625 –

Fixed deposits 47,420 –

Short term deposits 14,226 –

82,271 –

Details of interest rates at which the deposits reprice are set out in Note 22.

The Company invests in Singapore dollar (“SGD”) denominated cash in money market funds. The investment guidelines of 

the money market funds require that purchased investments must be high-quality and of investment grade (rated Aa3 by 

Moody’s or A by S&P’s or A by Fitch). The money market funds’ investment policies require investments to be highly liquid 

and flexible. The interest rates reprice on a daily basis.
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12 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company

2013 2013

Number of

shares 

’000 US$’000

FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES, WITH NO PAR VALUE:

Issuance of shares on the incorporation of the Company 1 1

Issuance of shares pursuant to the Restructuring Exercise prior to the IPO  828,683 61,650

Issuance of shares pursuant to the IPO 175,999 69,300

Listing expenses – (6,891)

Issuance of shares by private placement 70,000 42,509

Issuance of shares directly to acquire jointly controlled entities 20,274 12,950

At 31 December 1,094,957 179,519

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote 

per share at meetings of the Company. All shares ranked equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Capital management policy
The Board defines capital as share capital and accumulated losses.

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 

sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return of capital, which the Group defines 

as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary 

shareholders.

The Group monitors the capital position of the Group to ensure a sufficiently strong capital base so as to maintain investor, 

creditor and market confidence. This is also a platform to sustain the existing business and for future growth. There has 

been no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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13 RESERVES

Merger reserve
Merger reserve relates to reserve arising from certain acquisitions of businesses under common control accounted for 

under the merger accounting method.

Capital reserve
Capital reserve relates to capital contribution arising from loans forgiven by equity holders and differences between 

purchase consideration (of investments) and fair value of the shares issued.

Share option reserve
Share option reserve relates to the ESOS established by the Company to compensate its key management personnel and 

employees.

Translation reserve
Translation reserve relates to foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign operations.

14 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

Description of the share-based payment arrangements
At 31 December 2013, the Group and Company have the following share-based payment arrangement:

Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) (equity-settled)
The ESOS of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 June 

2013.

Information regarding ESOS is as follows:

• The exercise price of the options can be set at a discount to the Market Price(1) not exceeding 20% of the Market 

Price at the date on which the options are granted.

• For the options granted with exercise price set at Market Price, they can be exercised 1 year from the date of the 

grant and will expire 5 years from the date on which the options are granted.

• For the options granted with exercise price set at a discount to the Market Price, they can be exercised 2 years 

from the date of the grant and will expire 5 years from the date on which the options are granted.

(1) The Market Price is calculated based on the average of the last dealt prices for the Company’s shares on the 

Catalist of the SGX-ST over the 5 consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date on which the options are 

granted.
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14 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS (CONT’D)

Description of the share-based payment arrangements (Cont’d)

Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) (equity-settled) (Cont’d)

Grant date/employees entitled

No. of options 

issued

No. of holders at date  

of issue and at  

31 Dec 2013 Vesting conditions

Exercise 

period

Tranche 1 share option grant to 

employees on 29 November 2013

2,125,000 10 Exercisable 1 year 

from date of grant

29 Nov 2014 – 

28 Nov 2018

Tranche 2 share option grant to 

employees on 29 November 2013

1,062,500 10 Exercisable 2 years 

from date of grant

29 Nov 2015 – 

28 Nov 2018

3,187,500

Measurement of fair values
The fair value of the share-based payment plan was measured based on the Black-Scholes formula. The expected 

volatilities are based on the average historical volatilities of comparable companies operating within the same industry 

over the previous 3 – 3.5 years immediately preceding the grant date. The expected term used in the model is based on 

the acceptance date and the end of the performance period.

      Share option programme

Tranche 1 Tranche 2

Date of grant 29 Nov 2013 29 Nov 2013

Prevailing share price at date of grant (in SGD) 0.61 – 0.65 0.61 – 0.65

Exercise price (in SGD) 0.65 0.52

Expected volatility (weighted average) 39.73% 50.04%

Expected life (weighted average) 3 years 3.5 years

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 0.49% – 0.62% 0.54% – 0.72%

Employee expenses

2013

US$’000

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share options granted in 2013 60

Total expense recognised for equity-settled share-based payment 60
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14 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS (CONT’D)

Reconciliation of outstanding share options
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options under share option programme, replacement awards 

and share purchase plan is as follows:

Number of 

options

2013

Outstanding at 1 January 2013 –

Exercised during the year –

Granted during the year 3,187,500

Outstanding at 31 December 2013 3,187,500

Exercisable at 31 December –

15 OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2013 2012 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Amount due to a related corporation (non-trade) – 1,901 –

Miscellaneous payables 529 326 529

529 2,227 529

Amount due to a related corporation was unsecured and interest-free.

The contractual undiscounted cash outflows of other payables are due in the next 12 months.
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16 FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

Group

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income:

- bank deposits 60 –

- debt securities 51 –

- others 19 –

Finance income 130 –

Interest paid and payable to banks (29) –

Net foreign exchange loss (230) –

Finance costs (259) –

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss (129) –

17 LOSS BEFORE TAX

The following items have been included in arriving at loss before income tax:

Group

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Depreciation of plant and equipment 10 –

Directors’ fees 108 –

Audit fees paid to:

- auditors of the Company 192 50

- other auditors 45 –

Non-audit fees paid to:

- auditors of the Company * 377 –

- other auditors 127 –

Fair value loss on quoted investments 40 –

Operating lease expenses 236 –

Staff costs 2,224 60

Contributions to defined contribution plans (“CPF”) included in staff costs 12 –

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 60 –

*Includes audit fee for the Company’s IPO
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18 TAX EXPENSE

Group

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

CURRENT TAX EXPENSE

Current year – –

RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

Loss for the year (8,508) (1,182)

Income tax using the Singapore tax rate at 17% (1,446) (201)

Effects of results of associate and jointly controlled entities presented net of tax 101 201

Non-deductible expenses 430 –

Non-taxable income (22) –

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised 937 –

– –

Deferred tax assets on tax losses of US$5,500,000 (2012: Nil) have not been recognised because it is not probable that 

future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom.

The use of the potential tax benefits is also subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain 

provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the Group operates.

19 LOSS PER SHARE

Group

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

CALCULATION OF BASIC LOSS PER SHARE IS BASED ON:

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (8,508) (1,182)

No. of shares

2013 2012

Issued ordinary shares at 31 December 1,094,957,263 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 707,846,635 –
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19 LOSS PER SHARE (CONT’D)

Group

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

CALCULATION OF DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE IS BASED ON:

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (8,508) (1,182)

     No. of shares

2013 2012

Issued ordinary shares at 31 December 1,094,957,263 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 707,846,635 –

Effect of share options on issue 15,931 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted during the year) 707,862,566 –

At 31 December 2013, 2,125,000 options (2012: Nil) were excluded from the diluted weighted number of ordinary shares 

calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of 

calculating the dilutive effect of share options is S$0.623 based on quoted market prices for the period during which the 

options were outstanding.

20 RELATED PARTIES

Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the activities of the Group. The directors and certain key executives of the management team are 

considered as key management of the Group.

Transactions with directors and other key management personnel
Key management personnel compensation comprised remuneration of directors and other key executives as follows:

Group and Company

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Short-term employment benefits

- directors 266 –

- key executives 2,122 –

Post-employment benefits (including CPF) 4 –

Share-based payment 56 –

2,448 –
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20 RELATED PARTIES (CONT’D)

Other significant related party transactions
Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant transactions were carried out by the 

Group with its related parties.

Group

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

License fee paid to a related company of a substantial shareholder 313 –

Transactions with companes in which directors are shareholders

Group

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Expenses paid on behalf 108 –

Consultancy fee 512 –

620 –

21 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s reportable segments as described below are the Group’s strategic business units. The Management has 

determined the reportable segments based on the reports reviewed by the Group’s Executive Chairman, CEO and senior 

management that are used to make strategic decisions. Performance is measured based on segment results as included 

in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s Executive Chairman, CEO and senior management.

The Group has three reportable segments: Oil and gas exploration and production; Non-oil and gas (oil exploration 

technology); and Corporate.

The following summary describes the operations of each of the Group’s reportable segments:

• Oil and gas exploration and production: involved in oil and gas exploration and production with concessions 

located in the Middle East, Norway, US and Trinidad & Tobago

• Non-Oil and gas: owns a unique oil recovery technology

• Corporate: pertains to corporate functions
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21 OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONT’D)

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is as below:

Oil & Gas Non-Oil & Gas Corporate Total

GROUP US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2013

Segment expense – – (7,778) (7,778)

Finance income – – 130 130

Finance costs – – (259) (259)

Depreciation – – (10) (10)

Share of loss of associate and jointly controlled entities (4,512) (652) – (5,164)

Net gain on disposal of jointly controlled operations and 

jointly controlled entity 574 – – 574

Gain on dilution of interest in a jointly controlled entity 3,999 – – 3,999

Reportable segment profit/(loss) before tax 61 (652) (7,917) (8,508)

Reportable segment assets 62,776 19,641 94,941 177,358

Capital expenditure – – 91 91

Reportable segment liabilities – – (529) (529)

Oil & Gas Non-Oil & Gas Corporate Total

GROUP US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2012

Segment expense (653) – (529) (1,182)

Finance income – – – –

Finance costs – – – –

Depreciation – – – –

Share of loss of jointly controlled entity – – – –

Reportable segment loss before tax (653) – (529) (1,182)

Reportable segment assets 7,355 – – 7,355

Capital expenditure – – – –

Reportable segment liabilities 2,227 – – 2,227
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21 OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONT’D)

Geographical information
In 2013 and 2012, there is no revenue relating to investee companies.

Group

2013 2012

Non-current assets US$’000 US$’000

Singapore 81 –

Malaysia 3,404 –

United States of America 39,717 2,107

Trinidad & Tobago 11,345 –

Middle East 8,310 5,248

Switzerland 19,641 –

82,498 7,355

22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Management continually monitors the Group’s risk 

management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. Risk management 

policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.

The Audit Committee oversees how Management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 

procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.

The Enterprise Risk Management Framework provides the principal policy and guidance to the Group and its businesses 

on the risk management methodology and reporting of risks. It sets out a systematic and ongoing process for identifying, 

evaluating, controlling and reporting risks. These processes are put in place to manage and monitor the Group’s risk 

management activities on a regular and timely basis. The Group’s risk management efforts covers operational, financial 

and strategic areas.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential risk of financial loss resulting from failure of a customer or counterparty to meet its financial 

and contractual obligation to the Group, as and when the obligation falls due. The Group’s primary exposure to credit risk 

arises from its financial assets.

Concentrations of credit risk exist when economic or industry factors similarly affect a group of counterparties, and when 

the aggregate amount of this exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s total credit exposure.   The Group currently 

has no significant concentration of credit risk as at balance sheet date.

The Group does not require collateral in respect of its other receivables. The Group establishes an allowance for 

impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables.
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22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

Credit risk (Cont’d)
Cash, fixed deposits and money market funds are placed with reputable financial institutions which are regulated. These 

surplus funds are placed on short-term deposits (usually within the range of 1 day to 3 months) according to the Group’s 

cash flow requirement. The Group does not hedge against long-term fluctuations in interest rates.

At the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset 

in the statements of financial position.

Investments
Quoted debt securities are entered into with financial institutions, which have rating of A2 – Baa3 by Moody’s, or the 

equivalent by a reputable credit rating agency.

The Group holds available-for-sale investment in FRAM who owns oil and gas concessions in the US. The Group’s 

Management monitors the underlying investment in FRAM on a periodic basis. As at balance sheet date, the carrying value 

of FRAM represents its maximum credit exposure in this asset.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to 

shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 

maturities of financial assets and liabilities. Short-term funding is obtained from bank borrowings, when necessary. The 

Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use 

of credit facilities.

Working capital management
The Group and the Company manage their working capital requirements with the view to ensure smooth operations and 

optimise interest cost.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as crude oil, interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity 

prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Foreign currency risk
The Group operates internationally and may in future become exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 

currency exposures. Foreign exchange risk may arise from future commercial transactions, but in the current period all 

transactions entered into by the Group have been US dollar denominated and paid out of its US dollar bank accounts, 

thereby mitigating the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk.
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22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)
The Group and Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk are as follows:

2013 2012

Denominated in US$’000 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents SGD 81,919 –

Quoted investments SGD 6,689 –

Net exposure 88,608 –

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is mainly denominated in SGD. The Group does not have a formal hedging 

policy to govern this currency risk exposure as the Group monitors the exposure to currency risks on an ongoing basis and 

endeavours to keep the net exposures at an acceptable level.

Sensitivity analysis
A strengthening/(weakening) of the SGD against the US$ at 31 December would have increased/(decreased) profit or 

loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group 

considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in 

particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012, as indicated below:

Group and

Company

Profit or loss

US$’000

31 December 2013

SGD (2% strengthening) 1,772

31 December 2012

SGD (2% strengthening) –

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to its short-term interest bearing deposits. As short-

term bank deposits are placed in short-term money market with tenures mostly within the range of 1 day to 3 months, 

the Group’s interest income is subject to fluctuation in interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed by the Group on an on-

going basis and placed on a short-term basis according to the Group’s cash flow requirements with the primary objective 

of limiting the extent to which net interest expense could be affected by an adverse movement in interest rates.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Statements



Annual Report 2013 119

22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
The effective interest rates for short-term bank deposits ranged from 0.12% to 0.42% per annum in 2013.

              Group and Company

Nominal amount

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

FIXED RATE INSTRUMENTS

Fixed deposits and short term deposits 47,420 –

Quoted investments 7,320 –

54,740 –

US$’000 US$’000

VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS

Money market funds 14,226 –

An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates would have increased profit or loss by approximately US$154,000 (2012: 

Nil) for the Group and the Company respectively. A corresponding decrease in 100 basis points in interest rates would have 

decreased profit or loss by the same amount (2012: Nil) for the Group and the Company respectively.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 

making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy have the following levels:

(a) Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets;

(b) Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

(c) Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments.

Quoted prices in 

active markets 

for identical 

instruments

(Level 1)

Significant 

other 

observable 

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 3) Total

Group and Company Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2013

Quoted investments

- Debt securities 10 7,520 – – 7,520
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22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial 

instruments of the Group and Company.

Available-for-sale investment
Available-for-sale investment is carried at cost because there is no quoted market price for the investment and other 

valuation methods in determining the fair value do not result in a reasonable estimate.

Debt securities
The fair values of investments in debt securities are determined by reference to their quoted closing bid price in an active 

market at the measurement date.

Other financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than 1 year (including other receivables, 

cash and cash equivalents, and other payables) are assumed to approximate their fair values because of the short period 

to maturity or repricing.

Accounting classifications and fair values

Designated 

at fair value 

through 

profit or loss

Loans and 

receivables

Liabilities at 

amortised 

cost

Total

carrying 

amount Fair value

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

GROUP

31 December 2013

Other receivables* 9 – 4,938 – 4,938 4,938

Quoted securities 10 7,520 – – 7,520 7,520

Cash and cash equivalents 11 – 82,271 – 82,271 82,271

7,520 87,209 – 94,729 94,729

Other payables 15 – – (529) (529) (529)

31 December 2012

Other payables 15 – – (2,227) (2,227) (2,227)

COMPANY

31 December 2013

Other receivables* 9 – 5,058 – 5,058 5,058

Debt securities 10 7,520 – – 7,520 7,520

Cash and cash equivalents 11 – 82,271 – 82,271 82,271

7,520 87,329 – 94,849 94,849

Other payables 15 – – (529) (529) (529)

* Excludes prepayments

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Statements
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23 OPERATING LEASES

Leases as lessee
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Group and Company

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Within 1 year 591 –

Between 2 to 5 years 700 –

1,291 –

The Group has several operating lease agreements for office premises, apartments and motor vehicles. The leases have 

varying terms from 1 year to 3 years, with no escalation clauses nor renewal rights. The lease terms do not contain 

restrictions on the activities concerning dividends, additional debt or further leasing. These leases do not contain any 

contingent rentals.

24 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

During the year, the Group entered into an agreement to commit US$5,000,000 for additional investment in available for 

sale investment (FRAM), provided the following conditions are met:

(i) the aggregate of such fund-raising by FRAM (including US$5,000,000 to be invested by the Group) must be at least 

US$30,000,000 in new equity raised;

(ii) all convertible loans granted to FRAM must be converted into shares of FRAM or acquired by FRAM at the time of 

completion of such additional FRAM fund-raising; and

(iii) the additional FRAM capital subscription must be completed before 31 March 2014.

25 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(i) On 6 January 2014, the Group further injected cash of US$10,400,000 in Lime Group, its jointly controlled entity.

(ii)  On 20 January 2014, the Group paid NOK 24,000,000 (US$3,840,000) in cash to acquire a 5.35% equity investment 

in North Energy ASA. The investment will be accounted as an available-for-sale investment.

26 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

No comparative figures are available for the Company’s financial statements as this is the first set of financial statements 

of the Company prepared since its incorporation. Comparative figures shown in the Group’s financial statements were 

prepared on the basis described in Note 2.

Financial Statements
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Issued and fully paid-up capital : S$233,637,345
Number of issued shares : 1,094,957,263
Number of treasury shares : Nil
Class of shares : Ordinary Shares of equal voting right
Voting rights : One vote per Ordinary Share

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN THE HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information available to the Company as at 11 March 2014, approximately 49.14% of the issued ordinary shares of the 
Company were held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Lsiting Manual, Section B: Catalist Rules of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited, is complied with.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 11  MARCH 2014

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES % 

1 - 999 3  0.10  251 0.00 

1,000 - 10,000 1,615 52.86 8,802,192 0.80

10,001 - 1,000,000 1,385 45.34 99,269,384 9.07

1,000,001 and above  52  1.70 986,885,436 90.13

TOTAL 3,055 100.00 1,094,957,263 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 11 MARCH 2014

NAME OF SHAREHOLDER NO.  OF SHARES % OF SHARES

1 REX COMMERICAL LTD.  554,421,960  50.63 

2 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD  124,339,508  11.36 

3 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  32,036,803  2.93 

4 WHITE GLOBAL INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS  31,250,000  2.85 

5 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD  25,214,232  2.30 

6 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD  21,611,558  1.97 

7 PARETO GROWTH AS  18,468,637  1.69 

8 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD  11,477,000  1.05 

9 CLEMENTS CAPITAL  10,665,552  0.97 

10 LAM PO FOON  10,400,000  0.95 

11 HOLBERG NORDEN  9,771,914  0.89 

12 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD  8,908,585  0.81 

13 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  7,892,000  0.72 

14 WHANG HWEE YONG  7,687,500  0.70 

15 LANGOYA INVEST AS  7,096,990  0.65 

16 HOLBERG NORGE  5,666,869  0.52 

17 MP PENSJON  5,642,927  0.52 

18 JEREMY LEE SHENG POH  5,571,250  0.51 

19 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD  5,429,000  0.50 

20 LIM GUAN TECK  5,081,250  0.46 

TOTAL 908,633,535 82.98

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 11  MARCH 2014
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AS AT 11 MARCH 2014

            Direct Interest            Deemed Interest

No. Name

No. of shares 

held as Direct % 

No. of shares 

held as Deemed % 

1 Rex Commercial Ltd. 1 556,921,960  50.86 -  - 

2 Rex Partners Ltd. 2 - - 556,921,960  50.86 

3 Limea Ltd. 3 - - 556,921,960  50.86 

4 Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren 4 - - 556,921,960  50.86 

5 Mr Hans Ove Leonard Lidgren 4 - - 556,921,960  50.86 

6 Mr Svein Helge Kjellesvik 5 - - 556,921,960  50.86 

1 Of the 556,921,960 shares, 2,500,000 shares are held in the name of HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd.

2 Rex Partners Ltd. is deemed interested in 556,921,960 shares held by Rex Commercial Ltd. by virtue of its 100% ownership 

in Rex Commercial Ltd..

3 Limea Ltd., the holding company of Rex Partners Ltd., is deemed interested in 556,921,960 shares held through Rex 

Commercial Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rex Partners Ltd..

4 Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren and Mr Hans Ove Leonard Lidgren, each a 50% shareholder of Limea Ltd., are deemed interested 

in 556,921,960 shares held through Rex Commercial Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rex Partners Ltd., which in turn is 

80% controlled by Limea Ltd..

5 Mr Svein Helge Kjellesvik is deemed interested in 556,921,960 shares held by Rex Commerical Ltd., a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Rex Partners Ltd., by virtue of his controlling interest of 20% in Rex Partners Ltd..
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Rex International Holding Limited will be held at Raffles City Convention 

Centre, Morrison & Hullet Room, Level 4, 80 Bras Basah Road Singapore 189560 on Wednesday, 30 April 2014 at 3.00 p.m. (the 

“AGM”) for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 

31 December 2013 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.  (Resolution 1)

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$212,493/- for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.  (Resolution 2)

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$550,000/- for the financial year ending 31 December 2014, payable 

quarterly in arrears.      (Resolution 3)

 (See Explanatory Note 1)  

4. To re-appoint Mr Dan Broström who is retiring pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act Cap. 50. of Singapore.

         (Resolution 4)

5. To re-elect Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren who is retiring pursuant to Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

         (Resolution 5)

6. To re-elect Mr Sin Boon Ann who is retiring pursuant to Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association.    (Resolution 6)

Mr Sin Boon Ann will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Lead Independent and Non-Executive 
Director, Chairman of the Nominating and Remuneration Committees and a member of Audit Committee. The Board 
considers him to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Listing Manual (Section B: Catalist Rules) of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) (the “Catalist Rules”).

7. To re-elect Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan who is retiring pursuant to Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of 

Association.          (Resolution 7)

Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Independent Non-
Executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of Nominating and Remuneration Committees. The 
Board considers him to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

8. To re-elect Mr Abderahmane Fodil who is retiring pursuant to Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

          (Resolution 8)

Mr Abderahmane Fodil will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Independent Non-Executive Director, 
a member of Audit and Remuneration Committees. The Board considers him to be independent for the purpose of Rule 
704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

9. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as the Company’s auditors for the financial year ending 31 December 2014 and to authorise the 

Directors to fix their remuneration.    (Resolution 9)

10. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at the AGM.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

11. Authority to allot and issue shares

“THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Act”) and Rule 806 of the Catalist Rules, 
the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

(I) (a)  allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or 
otherwise; and/or

(b)  make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require Shares 
to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, 
warrants, debentures, or other instruments convertible into Shares; 

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may 
in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(II) (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Shares in 
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force,

provided that: 

(a) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be issued in 
pursuance of Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution), shall not exceed one hundred per 
cent (100%) of the total number of issued Shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) 
(as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be 
issued other than on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be 
issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed fifty per 
cent (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) (as calculated in accordance 
with sub-paragraph (b) below) or such other limit as may be prescribed by the Catalist Rules as at the date 
of this Resolution is passed;

(b) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining 
the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or 
granted pursuant to this Resolution) that may be issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, the percentage of 
the issued Shares shall be based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the 
time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for: 

(i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(ii) new Shares arising from exercising of share options or vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding and/or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the share 
options or share awards (as the case may be) were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 
of the Catalist Rules; and

(iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;
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(c)  in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of 

the Catalist Rules for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), and 

all applicable legal requirements under the Act and the Articles of Association for the time being of the 

Company; and

(d) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general 

meeting, continue to be in force until the conclusion of the Company’s next annual general meeting  or the 

date by which the next annual general meeting  of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is 

earlier.

(See Explanatory Note 2)      (Resolution 10)

12. Authority to allot and issue Shares under the Rex International Employee Share Option Scheme (“Share Option Scheme”)

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore, authority be and is hereby given to the 

Directors of the Company to offer and grant options (“Options”) in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option 

Scheme and to allot and issue from time to time such number of Shares as may be required to be allotted and issued 

pursuant to the exercise of Options, provided always that the aggregate number of Shares to be allotted and issued 

pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, when added to the number of Shares issued and issuable in respect of all Options 

granted under Share Option Scheme, and including the Performance Share Plan (as defined therein), and any other share 

option schemes of the Company, shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding 

treasury shares) on the day preceding that date of the relevant grant of an Option.”

(See Explanatory Note 3)   (Resolution 11)

13. Authority to allot and issue Shares under the Rex International Performance Share Plan (“Performance Share Plan”)

“That pursuant to Section 161 Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors 

of the Company to grant awards (“Awards”) in accordance with the provisions of the Performance Share Plan and to allot 

and issue from time to time such number of Shares as may be required to be allotted and issued pursuant to the Awards 

granted under the Performance Share Plan, provided always that the aggregate number of Shares to be allotted and 

issued pursuant to the Performance Share Plan, and where applicable, the total number of existing Shares which may be 

purchased from the market for delivery pursuant to the Awards granted under the Performance Share Plan, when added 

to the number of Shares issued and issuable in respect of all Awards granted under the Performance Share Plan, and 

including the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company, shall not exceed fifteen per cent 

(15%) of the total issued Share (including treasury shares) on the day preceding that date of grant of the relevant Awards.”

(See Explanatory Note 4)    (Resolution 12)

By Order of the Board

Tan Siew Hua

Company Secretary

Singapore

8 April 2014

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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NOTES:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to 

attend and vote instead of the member. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless the member specifies the 

proportion of his/her shareholding to be represented by each proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies.

3. If the member is a corporation, the instrument appointing the proxy must be given under its common seal or signed on its 

behalf by an attorney or a duly authorised officer of the corporation.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy, duly executed, must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 80 

Robinson Road #02-00 Singapore 068898 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM.

EXPLANATORY NOTES:

(1) The Resolution 3 in item 3 above, if passed, will facilitate the payment of Directors’ fees of S$550,000/- for the financial 

year ending 31 December 2014 on a quarterly basis in arrears. The amount of Directors’ fees is computed based on the 

anticipated number of Board and Board Committee meetings for the financial year ending 31 December 2014, including 

attendances and the positions held by the Non-Executive Directors in various board committees, and assuming that all 

Non-Executive Directors will hold office for the full financial year. In the event the amount of Directors’ fees proposed is 

insufficient, for example, in the event of unscheduled Board meetings or enlarged board sizes, approval will be sought at 

next year’s annual general meeting for additional fees before payments are made to Directors to meet the shortfall.

(2) The Resolution 10 in item 11 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of the AGM until 

the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next annual general meeting 

of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, 

whichever is the earlier, to allot and issue Shares, make or grant Instruments and to issue Shares pursuant to such 

Instruments, without seeking any further approval from shareholders in general meeting but within the limitation imposed 

by this Resolution, for such purposes as the Directors of the Company may consider would be in the best interests of the 

Company. The aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be made in pursuance of Instruments made or granted 

pursuant to this Resolution) to be allotted and issued would not exceed one hundred per cent (100%) of the total number 

of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the time of passing of this Resolution. For issue of Shares (including Shares 

to be made in pursuance of instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) other than on a pro-rata basis to all 

shareholders shall not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the 

time of the passing of this Resolution. 

(3) The Resolution 11 in item 12 above, if passed, will empower the Directors, from the date of the AGM until the conclusion 

of the next annual general meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company 

is required by law to be held or such authority is varied and revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is 

the earlier, to allot and issue Shares pursuant to the exercise of Options granted or to be granted under the Share Option 

Scheme and such other share-based incentive scheme or share plan up to a number not exceeding, in total, fifteen per cent 

(15%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) on the day preceding that date of the relevant grant.



Rex International Holding Limited128

(4) The Resolution 12 in item 13, if passed, will empower the Directors, from the date of the AGM until the conclusion of 

the next annual general meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company 

is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is 

the earlier, to allot and issue Shares pursuant to the vesting of Awards under the Performance Share Plan and such other 

share-based incentive scheme or share plan (including the total number of existing Shares which may be purchased from 

the market for delivery pursuant to the Awards granted) up to a number not exceeding, in total, fifteen per cent (15%) of the 

total number of issued Shares (including treasury shares) on the day preceding that date of the relevant grant.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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REX INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No.: 201301242M)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
PROXY FORM

I/We,  (Name)  (NRIC No./Passport No./Company

Registration No.)  of  (Address) 

being a member/members of REX INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED ( the “Company”), hereby  appoint  

Name Address NRIC/Passport No.
Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

* and/or

Name Address NRIC/Passport No.
Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

or failing him/her/they, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for 
*me/us on *my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the AGM of the Company to be held at Raffles City Convention 
Centre, Morrison & Hullet Room, Level 4, 80 Bras Basah Road, Singapore 189560 on Wednesday, 30 April 2014 at 3.00 p.m. and at 
any adjournment thereof.

*I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Ordinary Resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as indicated 
hereunder. If no specified directions as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/their 
discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM.

No. Resolutions To be used on a 
show of hands

To be used in the 
event of a poll

ORDINARY BUSINESS For1 Against1 For2 Against2

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 together with the Auditors’ 
Report thereon.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees S$212,493/- for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2013.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$550,000/- for the financial 
year ending 31 December 2014, payable quarterly in arrears.

4. To re-appoint Mr Dan Broström as a Director, who is retiring under Section 
153(6) of the Companies Act Cap. 50. of Singapore.

5. To re-elect Dr Karl Helge Tore Lidgren as a Director, who is retiring under 
Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

6. To re-elect Mr Sin Boon Ann as a Director, who is retiring under Article 99 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association.

7. To re-elect Mr Muhammad Sameer Yousuf Khan as a Director, who is retiring 
under Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

8. To re-elect Mr Abderahmane Fodil as a Director, who is retiring under Article 
99 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

9. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as auditors of the Company for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2014 and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

10. To approve the authority to allot and issue shares.

11. To approve the authority to allot and issue shares under the Rex International 
Employee Share Option Scheme.

12. To approve the authority to allot and issue shares under the Rex International 
Performance Share Plan.

1  Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a [√] within the box provided.
2  If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick “√” within the box provided. Alternatively, please indiciate the number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this  day of  2014

Total No. of Shares in No. of Shares

CDP Register

Register of Members

Signature of Member(s) or Common Seal

* Delete accordingly 



IMPORTANT:  PLEASE READ NOTES FOR THIS PROXY FORM.

NOTES:

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository 

Register (as defined in section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of 

shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If 

you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register 

of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and 

registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies 

shall be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than 

two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. Such proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the member must specify the proportion of shareholding (expressed as a 

percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. If no proportion of shareholdings is specified, the proxy whose 

name appears first shall be deemed to carry one hundred per cent (100%) of the shareholdings of his/its appointor and 

the proxy whose name appears after shall be deemed to be appointed in the alternate.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in 

writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under 

its common seal or under the hand of an officer of the corporation or attorney duly authorised.

5. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of 

attorney (or other authority) or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be 

lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid. 

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 80 Robinson 

Road #02-00 Singapore 068898 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM. If a shareholder 

submits a proxy form and subsequently attends the meeting in person and votes, the appointments of the proxy should be 

revoked.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as 

it thinks fit to act as its representative at the AGM, in accordance with section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of 

Singapore.

GENERAL:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or 
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of a member whose shares are entered in the Depository 
Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not 
shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding 
the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.



DISCLAIMER 

This Annual Report to Shareholders may contain forward-looking 

statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual future 

 performance, outcome and results may differ materially from those 

expressed in forward-looking statements as a result of a number of 

risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Representative examples of 

these factors include (without limitation) general industry and 

 economic conditions, interest rate trends, cost of capital and capital 

availability, availability of real estate properties, competition from 

other companies and  venues for the sale/distribution of goods and 

services, shifts in  customer demands, customers and partners, 

changes in operating expenses, including employee wages, benefits 

and training, governmental and public policy changes and the 

 continued availability of financing in the amounts and the terms 

necessary to support future business. You are cautioned not to  

place undue reliance on these  forward-looking statements, which  

are based on the current view of management of future events.
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